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Introduction 

You have accepted the position of volunteer treasurer of your organization. You
know it is an important job (after all, you will be handling the organization's money).
This book will help you to be an effective treasurer by helping you understand what
you are doing. Then you will be better able to explain to your fellow board members
the role they play in financial management. You will be able to develop financial
reports that will be useful to you, the board, and your organization's members and
supporters.

The assumption I have made is that you are not an accountant by training or
profession. But the chances are good that you do have a personal checking or savings
bank account. So you may be familiar with a great deal of what this book will cover,
though it probably will introduce you to new vocabulary and procedures.

This book has been written in two parts.
The primary audience for Part One (Chapters 1 to 8) is the volunteer treasurer of

any organization that does not need an outside accountant. Your organization is
probably a relatively small one and your financial transactions (checks or cash
received and checks written) are few in number. You may or may not be incorporated.
In all likelihood, your organization will raise and spend less than $50,000 each year.

Part Two (Chapters 9 to 17) is aimed at an organization that will raise and spend
in excess of $50,000. You are almost certainly incorporated and there may be paid
staff that keeps all or some part of the financial records. However, the board of
directors and its treasurer still have significant responsibility for fiscal management.
Whether or not you will require the services of a certified public accountant (CPA) will,
in large measure, depend on your sources of funds. Many federated fundraising
agencies, foundations, and state charity regulators require an audit. Part Two will
explain these and many other subjects to help you carry out your role as treasurer.

Those of you who feel that only Part One applies to you should nevertheless read
Chapters 13 and 15, "Budgeting" and "Government Reporting Requirements." These
two chapters contain information pertinent to any nonprofit organization, even though
they fit most logically into the flow of Part Two. You might consider reading the rest
of the chapters in Part Two for information that is applicable to your organization now
or that will help you anticipate your financial systems needs as your organization
grows.

Even if you feel that your organization falls under Part Two already, I strongly
recommend that you begin by reading Part One. This will provide you with the basic
foundation of vocabulary and approach necessary to understand Part Two.

I have tried to use as little accounting "jargon" as possible throughout. But
obviously when talking about financial information, I have had to use accounting and
other financial language. I will explain some of it as we go along and the glossary at
the back of the book summarizes these terms and provides additional definitions.
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This book does not go into detail concerning computers or financial software,
although it is likely you will have access to such popular programs as Quicken®,
QuickBooks®, or Microsoft Money®. Everything in this book can be done either
manually or by computer-the fundamental concepts remain the same. Note that a
computer cannot get off the desk and gather accurate information for you, so you
have to be well organized before touching to the keyboard.  Financial software can be
time-saving and permits records to be transferred easily from one treasurer to the
next. But you must decide which is easiest for you and most efficient for your
organization.

Another subject not covered in detail is compliance with government agencies.
The basic requirements are included in Chapter 15, but the United States and Canada
have a multitude of federal, state or provincial, and local laws. It is not the intent of
this book to be a law text, but it will make you aware of the type of reports and taxes
you need to consider. You'll also find Web site addresses where you can get the latest
information.

Read on. I feel confident you will find useful answers.

2 Introduction
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ORgANizATiON



4 Part 1: The Smaller Organization
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The Financial Responsibilities

of a Board of Directors

What exactly is a “board of directors”? A board is a group of people who have accepted
the responsibility for an activity. The trustees of an art museum, the officers of a civic
organization, and the directors of a social service agency are all members of a board of
directors.

However, this book takes the concept of a board further. Boards of directors are
“leaders.” They are people who care about something and, in cooperation with other
people, want to do something about it. This includes a group of neighbors who want
to clean up their block, parents who coach and coordinate their children's soccer
league and members of a church who run a food cooperative. In this book, I will call
such leaders a “board” or “board of directors.”

I know that most of us get involved with block groups, civic associations, church/
synagogue activities, or historical houses because we are interested in what they do
or whom they serve. Accomplishing any organization's goals takes time and people.
It also often takes money. The effort may start with the participants' own money. But
quickly there will be an attempt to raise funds from other sources: donations,
fundraising events, and membership drives.

A board has to handle, use, and spend other people's money. Many of us do not
feel comfortable managing our own money, let alone other people's. By the time you are
finished reading this book, you should feel better about making financial decisions,
maintaining a bank account, and understanding financial statements.

Both nonprofit organizations and profit-making businesses have to be
“accountable” for the use of their funds, but the emphasis is different. The mission of
a business is   paying dividends to its owners; to “make a profit.” The mission of a
nonprofit organization is to provide a service or solve a problem. As long as it has
enough money to continue its operations, it does not have to “make a profit.”

However, a nonprofit organization does have to account for the money it uses that
has come from its “owners”: the members of the public who have donated funds and
other resources. Board members, therefore, are sometimes called “trustees” because
they maintain the trust of the public that the organization will be well-managed. This
is often referred to as “stewardship.”

One additional point. A nonprofit organization needs some money to operate.
Income and expenses do not always come in the right order. Therefore, at the beginning
of any period of time (a month or a fiscal year), some amount of cash must be available.
For that  period, income may exceed expenses. In a business, we would call that a “profit.”

1



Nonprofits have to budget for enough “excess” to cover the operating expenses of the next
period until income is received. So it may be good management for income to exceed
expenses.

What a nonprofit cannot do, and what separates it from a business, is allow the
excess (“profit”) to benefit any individual. There are no stockholders and dividends
are not paid to anyone. The members of the board of directors manage the finances
of the nonprofit organization but receive no personal monetary gain from any excess
of funds. This is why some groups prefer the term “not-for-profit” over the term
“nonprofit.”

Each member of the board is equally responsible for financial management—not
just the treasurer. Unfortunately too often board members assume that, because
someone is designated “treasurer,” he or she is taking care of the finances and
everyone else has a limited role. The reason this happens is that most people are
uncomfortable dealing with money. An important part of your role as treasurer is to
make the board understand that what has been delegated to you is only the function
of providing more detailed oversight to the organization's financial transactions. All board
members must read your treasurer's report, ask questions, and be knowledgeable
about your organization's financial status so that they can make appropriate
programmatic decisions.

6 Chapter 1: Financial Responsibilities
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The Role of the Treasurer

Let's start with a job description for the volunteer treasurer of any organization:

Title: TREASURER

Purpose:  To manage and report on the organization's finances.

Responsibilities:

1. Carry out the responsibilities of a member of the board of
directors.

2. Maintain all bank accounts.
3. Provide oversight of all financial transactions.
4. Monitor the budget.
5. Report to the board of directors and general membership on

finances.
6. Prepare any required financial reporting forms.

Qualifications:

1. Ability to keep neat and accurate records.
2. Willingness to pay attention to detail.
3. Availability to handle transactions on a timely basis.
4. Willingness to ask questions, even if this means being an irritant.

2



As you begin your responsibility of managing and reporting on your organization's
finances, let's consider the basic categories for which you might be providing
oversight:

1. Cash

“Cash” includes actual dollars and cents (currency and coin) on hand (perhaps in a
cash register or cash box) and the amounts in any checking accounts. “Cash” also
includes savings accounts and certificates of deposit.

2. Other Things Your Organization Owns

This could include:

a. inventory of items held for sale or distribution; banners, prizes, etc. not used
up last year that can be re-used this year at an annual event

b. office equipment and furniture

c. land and buildings

d. automobiles, lawn mowers, etc.

e. investments in stocks and bonds

f. any amounts someone else owes your organization (accounts receivable)

3. Amounts Owed by Your Organization 

This could include:

a unpaid bills for purchases

b. monthly obligations

c. loan repayments

4. Income

Income can be obtained from a variety of sources, including:

a. members' dues

b. receipts from admissions to special events

c. contributions, donations, and grants

d. sales of products or services

e. interest and dividends

8 Chapter 2: The Role of the Treasurer
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5. Expenses

Expenses also include a wide variety of items, such as:

a. stationery and supplies

b. printing and duplicating

c. postage

d. telephone

As treasurer, you need a system for recording all of the above five categories. 
Let's get started!

Chapter 2: The Role of the Treasurer 9
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Bank Accounts

Most treasurers inherit their organization's bank accounts when they begin their
tenure. However, you may be with a brand new organization or may need to change
banks or open an additional account. At the very least, you will want to be sure that
you are added as an authorized check signer. Therefore, we'll begin at the beginning.

FEIN

If you are a brand new organization, you will need a Federal Employer
Identification Number—even if you have no employees. In simple terms, the FEIN is a
registration number with the Internal Revenue Service. See the sample form on page
12. The completed form is mailed back to the IRS. They will assign you a number in
approximately eight weeks. However, most banks will let you open an account
immediately and ask you to give them your FEIN as soon as you receive it.

Opening a Bank Account

The very first step is selecting a bank, which you will of course do based on the
fees and the services provided by that bank. The bank will give you blank forms for
opening the account. One of these will be that bank's standard “resolution” form. A
sample is given on page 13 (each bank's form is a little different). This is a document
that legally permits the bank to open an account in the name of your organization. It
authorizes the bank to accept deposits and honor checks drawn in your organization's
name. Your organization's board of directors must vote approval of this “resolution,”
which has the effect of authorizing the treasurer to open a bank account. This must
occur each time a new account is opened or any changes are made in a current
account.

The resolution passed by the board should include a list of who will be authorized
to make transactions on that account. This usually means a list of positions
(president, treasurer, etc.), not the names of individuals (Mary Smith, Ralph Jones,
etc.).

Deciding who will be given this authorization is an important responsibility that the
board has. One check signer should (I almost say must) be the treasurer. S/he is the
person to whom your organization has said “we trust you with our money.” But it is good
management planning to permit more than one person to sign checks. This can be another
officer such as the president or secretary, or it can be any member of the board or

3
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even general member of your association. (For larger organizations, it often makes
sense for one of the check signers to be an employee.)

Authorize several check signers—at least three or four. Remember, even
treasurers sometimes go on trips or get sick. You do not want to be dependent on one
person only.

The next question to decide is whether or not you want to require that each
individual check be signed by more than one person. This may be a good idea because
it assures that at least two people will have to agree on how funds are spent.
Unfortunately, what often happens to organizations that have the double signature
rule is that the person not in possession of the check book pre-signs a few checks
because it seems inconvenient to have to track down a second signature whenever a
check is written. When checks are pre-signed, the first signer is signing a blank check
which transfers all oversight to the second check signer. If this occurs, you may as
well have checks signed by one person only and recognize that that is your system.

If it is inconvenient or would delay paying invoices to have two people sign each
check at the time it is made out, an alternate system is to require only one signature
on individual checks up to a stated dollar amount. Select an amount that covers many
of your expenditures (maybe $99.99)—the amount will depend on your organization's
needs. All checks over that amount (in this case, $100.00) would require two
signatures.

In this way, you can easily handle checks for items in the budget that are routine
and relatively small. But you have the protection that no one person can easily
withdraw all the organization's cash.

It is not “wrong” to have checks signed by one person. The board of directors must
consider what is safe for the organization, what is practical, and what risks they are
willing to take.

Once you've determined who will be authorized to sign checks, you are ready to
pass the necessary resolution. If you select the alternate system I described,
someone might make the following motion:

I move to authorize the opening of a checking account at
Savers Bank and to authorize the President, Vice President,
Secretary and Treasurer to be check signers. Any one of the
four are authorized to sign checks up to $ (your amount).
Any two of the four are required on checks over $ (your
amount plus one cent).

Of course, the bank will need to know which individuals currently hold these
positions and will give you signature cards (see example on next page) for this
purpose.

You have options when you select the type of account to open. Some of the things
you want to consider are:

Does the account pay interest?

Is there a required minimum balance?

Are there restrictions on the number of checks per month or a per-check
charge?

Are there service charges, and can they can be avoided?

Are there additional costs for items such as check printing, depositing rolled
coins, or a self-inking endorsement stamp?
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You should not keep all funds in a non-interest-bearing checking account. Many
banks today offer interest-bearing checking accounts, but be sure to determine any
restrictions. Keep only one to two months' expenses in any account that does not earn
interest. Excess funds can be placed into an interest-bearing account, but you should
require two signatures for a withdrawal. Talk with your banker.

The Responsibility of a Check Signer

Each check signer must do the following:

1. Scan the check to be sure that it is complete in all respects and looks
correct: Is the date current? Does the written amount agree with the numerical
amount? etc.

2. Compare the name and amount on the check to the bill to be paid.

3. Be sure the bill has been approved by the appropriate person in the organization.
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If a check requires more than one signature, it is important that each check signer
follows the procedure just outlined. Checks should never be signed in advance and it
should not be assumed that a check is correct just because the first signer has already
signed his/her name. Remember, by signing a check, you are spending the
organization's money.

How to Reconcile a Checking Account

It is important to reconcile the checking account each month to be sure the
balance in your checkbook is correct. Also, though it is not usual, banks do make
errors and you want to make sure they are corrected.  If you are using accounting
software such as Quicken®, the program will help you to reconcile all your bank
accounts.  But it is still useful to know how to do this the "old-fashioned," manual way
and several of the steps are necessary regardless of the method you'll use in your
reconciliation.

When you receive your bank statement, you should:

1. Trace each deposit in your checkbook to the bank statement. Put a
checkmark in your checkbook next to each deposit that is shown on the
statement. Any deposit not shown because of the usual one or two day time
lag is a "deposit in transit." date of the bank statement. If you prepare a
monthly treasurer's report, you may want to reconcile through the last
transaction you intend to include in that month's treasurer's report (which
in most cases will also be the end of the month). By doing this, you will
prove that the ending cash balance of the treasurer's report reconciles with
the balance in the bank. 

2. If you have your checks returned with your statement, put them in order by
check number or date. Trace each check to the checkbook. Put a check-mark
in your checkbook next to each check that has been returned. Any checks
you have written and subtracted from your checkbook balance but which
have not been returned by the bank (and therefore not yet cashed) are
"outstanding checks."

You are now ready to reconcile the account. Your first decision is through what
date to reconcile. You will be receiving the bank statement several days after its
ending date, which may or may not be the end of a month. This time lag means that
new transactions have occurred since the bank's closing date, but they probably can
be ignored during the reconciling procedure. 

It's generally best to reconcile through the ending date of the bank statement.  If
you prepare a monthly treasurer's report, you may want to reconcile through the last
transaction you intend to include in that month's treasurer's report (which in most
cases will also be the end of the month).  By doing this, you will prove that the ending
cash balance of the treasurer's report reconciles with the balance in the bank.

If you do not prepare a treasurer's report each month or if the bank statement is
through a date other than month end, you can select any convenient checkbook date.
By the way, it is possible to ask your bank to prepare your statement as of the last
day of the month.

There may be other reconciling items. For instance, there may be a monthly
service charge. You cannot record the charge in your checkbook until you receive the
bank statement. Therefore, it would be another item to "add" in the reconciliation.
Another possible item might be monthly interest earned. Again, you cannot know this
amount until the bank statement is received. The interest would be another item to
"subtract" in the reconciliation.
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The secret is:

 If the item in question causes the bank statement to be higher than your
checkbook balance—subtract it.

If the item causes the bank statement to be lower than your checkbook
balance—add it.

After you have completed the reconciliation, these "other reconciling items" must
be entered into your checkbook. Service charges would be deducted from your
checkbook balance, while interest earned would be added.

On the next page you will find the October bank statement for the mythical
Sincere Society, as received by their treasurer. Below is the reconciliation that the
treasurer has done. You can use this simple format, too. Many bank statements have
something similar on the reverse side of the statement and you can, of course, use
that.

All reconciling items of one month should be checked to make sure that they are
cleared the next month. If not, they carry over, but should be analyzed to see if a
problem exists.

The last line of the form, "balance per checkbook," must agree with the balance
to which you are reconciling in your checkbook. If it does not, your checkbook does
not reconcile and you must find out why. Start by checking your arithmetic on the
reconciliation form. Then check the arithmetic in your checkbook since the balance to
which you reconciled last month.

Bank Reconciliation 
for

Sincere Society

October 31, 19XX

Balance per bank statement $9474.11__________

Add: deposits in transit 82.42__________
_________________

9556.53___________

Subtract: oustanding checks

#402 $312.16________

#404 121.32________
#409 39.15________

#412 82.78________
________
________
________ 555.41(___________)

Balance per checkbook

__________________
$9001.12______________________________________

Communication First
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EDBANK

ACCOUNT STATEMENT

Sincere Society

Period Ending 10/31/XX                                      Account No 224-933

Date
Description of 

Your Activity Debits Credits LedgerBalance 

10/03

10/06

10/07

10/12

10/15

10/20

10/21

10/22

10/27

10/28

10/30

OPENING BALANCE

Deposit

Deposit

Check  399

Check  401

Deposit

Check  403

Check  404

Check  405

Check  407

Check  406

Deposit

Check  408

Deposit

Check  410

Check  411

CLOSING BALANCE

23.90

16.27

94.73

162.19

18.95

400.00

112.16

29.62

229.16

800.00

200.00

505.78

1,300.00

1,619,15

715.00

7,021.16

7,221.16

7,703.04

7,686.77

8,986.77

8,892.04

8,310.90

8,198.74

9,187.89

9,788.27

10,503.27

9,474.11
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If you are still not reconciled, again compare each deposit in the checkbook to
each deposit on the bank statement. Then you should compare the amount of each
check written from the check to the amount written in the checkbook. If the difference
is still not located, compare each check to the amount charged on the bank
statement. By following these procedures, you should have accounted for each item
on the bank statement and in your checkbook. Any item not checked off should be
the cause of the imbalance.

When you have reconciled the account, draw a line under the reconciled balance
in your checkbook noting the date reconciled. See the example on page 22.

Savings Accounts

Savings accounts also need to be reconciled. The process just described for
reconciling checking accounts can be used for savings accounts for which you receive a
monthly statement from the bank. With this type of account, do your reconciliation
monthly.

If you have a savings account that still uses the passbook system, you need to be
sure that all transactions are reflected in your passbook. Normally this occurs each
time you have a transaction with the bank. However, at least once a year, you should
take your passbook into the bank and be sure the bank enters all interest and other
transactions into it.

In any case, the balance per the bank's records should be reconciled with the
balance on the organization's records.

File of Bank Statements and Cancelled Checks

After you have reconciled the bank accounts on the front or back of the bank
statements, or on another piece of paper which should be stapled to the bank
statement so it does not get lost, the statements should be filed by month. Deposit
tickets can be stapled to each statement or, if numerous, kept in their own file.

Cancelled checks should be filed chronologically by date written, which usually
also means by check number and the order in which they are entered in the
checkbook.

A Word on Financial Software

As already noted, commercially-available financial software can be a great help in
making a treasurer’s life easier. These programs do not eliminate the need for care
diligence, but do handle many of the more tedious elements of the treasurer’s job
such as reconciliations and reporting. Also, when used consistently over time, such
software builds an accurate archive for future treasurers.
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For My Successor

Our FEIN is:

Our banks and account numbers are:

The authorized check signers are:

You can create an individualized manual for your organization and for
future treasurers by filling in the information identified at the end of
each chapter. Keep a file with samples of any form you use. When your
term of office is complete, give your successor this book and help him or
her get started. Be sure to keep the information up to date.
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The Financial Records

I have used the term “financial records” or “the books” several times. Let's now
discuss these in some detail.

If the number of transactions is very small, it may be possible to keep all the
financial records in the checkbook. The sample of checkbook stubs on page 22 shows:

1. The date of deposit, from whom the money was received and the amount.

2. The date the check was written, to whom it was paid, the purpose for which
it was paid and the amount.

These records could be summarized and the treasurer's report, as discussed in
Chapter 5, could be prepared. The key to financial records is: Can the necessary
reports be prepared easily, accurately and on a timely basis from these
records?

As an organization grows or if the number of transactions is numerous, additional
records need to be kept. Even a small organization may receive a significant number
of membership dues. In these cases the checkbook alone will not be an adequate
record.

The two basic records then needed are the cash receipts journal and the cash
disbursements journal.

Cash Receipts Journal

Note: At this point, I am going to assume your organization is on the “cash basis.”
That means you record financial transactions when cash changes hands. There is another
accounting method, the “accrual basis,” but I have deferred that discussion until Part
Two (see Chapter 10).

The cash receipts journal (see sample on page 23) is a listing of all cash received,
in chronological order and assigned to the appropriate category. You can buy
accounting paper in a variety of formats with enough columns to keep any financial
records.  The basic procedure is the same whether you keep a journal by hand or use
a computer, but financial software definitely makes this type of recordkeeping easier
by setting up columns and headings for you and automatically calculating and
generating reports.

4
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The columns in the journal should be labeled to correspond with the line items in
the budget, which should be the same as the items in the treasurer's report. This
makes preparation and presentation of both easier. However, there does not have to
be a column for every item. A “Miscellaneous” column can be used for items that
occur once a month or even less frequently. An example is interest earned. Make a
column for any  category in which there are multiple transactions in a month.

As you receive money (cash or checks), you enter each receipt, noting the date
and its source. Enter the total amount received in the first column under “Cash.” Then,
moving across the same line, enter the amount again under whichever category is
appropriate.

On a few occasions, cash will be received from one source for more than one category.
For instance, a member may send in one check for both membership dues and a
contribution. When this happens, you must “distribute” the amount received into as
many of the columns as are necessary, showing the amount allocated to each (for
example, $10 to dues, $50 to contributions). When you are done with each line, the total
of the amounts recorded in all the categories should equal the amount shown in the Cash
column.

This process is what is called “double entry bookkeeping.” I hope you agree that
it is straightforward and relatively simple.

At the end of the month, you add up each column. The total of all the category
distribution columns must equal the total Cash column.

If you use a software program, the computer screen will ask you to assign each
receipt or payment to the appropriate category, as you would in processing it by hand.
The program then automatically adds or deducts the amount.  It will also allow you
to sort transactions as you wish by date, payee, or a specific category.  This lets you
see at a glance how each category is faring compared to its budget.

Cash Disbursements Journal

The cash disbursements journal, as shown on page 25, is a listing of all cash
disbursed, in chronological order and assigned to the appropriate category.

Again, the columns should be labeled to agree with the budget and treasurer's
report. As with cash receipts, there does not have to be a column for each expense
category and you can use a “Miscellaneous” column to record items that occur once
a month or less (such as rent or insurance).

As above, keep this journal using double entry bookkeeping, distributing each
cash disbursement to its appropriate category or categories. Each line must balance
across. At the end of the month, you add up each column. The total of all the category
distribution columns must equal the total Cash column.

Remember...

From these “books,” you should be able to prepare your treasurer's report easily.
To reiterate, you may find a checkbook is sufficient. It may provide all the

information you need to prepare your treasurer's reports. Or, if you have a few
deposits but write a lot of checks, you may not need a cash receipts journal, but may
want to keep a cash disbursements journal. Consider your specific needs at this
point in time, meet them, but be aware that those needs may change.
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Petty Cash

Petty cash is an amount of currency and coins kept on hand in an envelope or a box.
Its purpose is to avoid writing a check for small amounts.

A petty cash amount should be established by the board of directors. It should be
relatively small (maybe $10, $25 or as much as $100) and should be ''used up'' fairly
frequently—at least every two months. You do not want too large an amount of cash to sit
in a petty cash box. It is not safe and does not earn interest. The amount needed can be
determined by the frequency of its depletion.

If the amount is set at $25, the money should be spent until a small amount, say $5.16,
is left. Then, all the receipts (store-prepared or notes from a member) should be
totaled and a check requested for $19.84—to restore the fund to $25 again. It is at
this point that the disbursement of $19.84 should be “approved” and a check written.
This check should be made payable to the custodian of the fund (that is, to an
individual), not to “cash.” Then the cycle is repeated.
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Use of a Bank Deposit Ticket

Insider information: You can use your preprinted bank deposit ticket in ways that
can save you time.

First, you can use the deposit ticket as your cash receipts record. Instead of
entering data such as a bank number for each check deposited, enter the name of the
person or organization from whom the money was received (see the example on the
left below). The list of names will not disturb the bank.

This idea works best when there are lots of items and they are all for the same
purpose—such as members' dues, checks taken in at a fundraising event, etc.

Second, if you have many checks to deposit, you do not have to list each one
separately, either by name or bank number. Instead, you can run an adding machine
tape of all the checks and include that with your deposit. On the deposit ticket, simply
write “list attached.” See the example below, on the right.
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If you use this adding machine tape idea, you should list each individual item in
your cash receipts records and add up that listing before you make the bank deposit
to be sure you get the same total. Doing this means you will end up with two adding
machine tapes that must agree, one of which will go to the bank. (Hint: You can also
enter this total in the cash receipts records as a sub-total and save time at month end
when it is time to add up the cash receipts records.)
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For My Successor

We maintain our financial records in:

a computer using this software:
our checkbook
a cash receipts journal
a cash disbursements journal

Our petty cash system is:
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The Treasurer’s Report

The treasurer of any organization must report on the financial transactions of that
organization. This report should be made monthly. If the organization meets bi-
monthly or quarterly, it may be sufficient to report only at each meeting. The purpose
of financial reporting is to make sure that any decisions that need to be made can
take into consideration accurate and up-to-date financial data. Therefore, regardless
of the frequency of meetings, it is probably still useful to give board members a
treasurer's report monthly. 

Let us now consider the treasurer's report of a small nonprofit organization with a
volunteer treasurer. An example is on the next page. As you can see it shows:

the name of the organization

the period which the report covers

the cash balance at the beginning of the period

the income received during the period

the expenses paid during the period

the cash balance at the end of the period

the signature of the treasurer

As you can see from the example, the cash balance at the end of the period equals
the cash balance at the beginning of the period, plus total income, minus total
expenses. Note that the cash balance at the end of the period should agree with the
“balance per checkbook” on the bank reconciliation.

This format is usable both for a report to the board of directors or for a general
membership meeting. Accuracy is important, but great detail is not. You do not need
to show every single transaction that occurred during the period. In reporting income
and expenses, show only significant items and combine small amounts as “other.” A
report that people understand is better than a detailed one that is confusing.

On the example, the proceeds and expenses of the “Dance” are shown separately.
An alternative way to report on the dance would be to “net” income and expenses and
show the result as an income item or an expense item only. In this example, since
the dance generated $1219.15 but cost $1462.45, the result was a net expense of

5
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$243.30. So the dance could have been reported only under the “expense” column
as: Dance—net, $243.30. Had income exceeded expenses, the dance would have
been reflected only under “income.”

This alternative should only be considered for special fundraising events, not for
regular, ongoing programs. A disadvantage to the “net” method is that in the months
before the event, the net amount may be income one month and expenses the next.
Such fluctuations should be explained to the board.

Regardless of the method you use in the treasurer's report, a detailed financial
report on the special event should be prepared. See “Special Cash Receipts” in
Chapter 7.

The treasurer's report should always be in writing. There should be copies for all
members who will be present at the meeting when the report is presented. Ideally,
members should receive the report in advance of the meeting so they can more
thoughtfully fulfill their responsibility of understanding the treasurer's report and asking
questions, if necessary.

You, as treasurer, will present the treasurer's report orally at the meeting. Keep
this oral report brief and succinct. All that need be stated is the opening balance this
month (or quarter or other period), the total income, the total expenses and the
ending balance this month. It is easier for listeners to understand if you read the figures
as dollars only, without mentioning cents. Explain any large or unusual items, either income
or expenses—this is one of your responsibilities as treasurer.

On the written report can be a list of any significant amounts due the organization
or any significant unpaid bills on hand. This can be summarized in the oral report.

Once the oral report is presented and all questions answered, the chair should
say: “The treasurer's report is filed.” Following proper parliamentary procedure, the
treasurer's report is never “moved, seconded, and adopted.” The appropriate term is
“filed” or “filed for audit.” The reason for this is that the members present have no
way to “approve” the details of the treasurer's report; they can only “acknowledge”
it.

The secretary should be given a copy of the treasurer's report for attachment to
the minutes. It is unfair (and unwise) to expect the secretary to write down numbers
as they are being read aloud.

One more point about the treasurer's report. Your organization should have a
budget. It may be a formal one approved by the board of directors (and I will discuss
this more in Chapter 13 in Part Two) or an informal one, but you need some estimate
of income and expenses for the forthcoming year. The categories of income and
expenses on the treasurer's report should be the same as those in the budget. At the
very least, they should be consistent from one report to the next. Things may have
to be added from time to time, but the order should be maintained. This makes it
possible for the board or the members to compare treasurer's reports from month to
month and year to year.

One final hint. You can standardize your treasurer’s report by creating a simple
form in a computer word processing program or on a typewriter, showing all the
various categories, with blanks where the numbers will go. Print out or photocopy this
blank report and each month simply insert the correct month and numbers. This
saves time and ensures consistency. A handwritten or partly-typed, partly-
handwritten report should be acceptable as long as it is legible. 

Financial software, of course, can produce reports easily. Even a simple
spreadsheet program such as Microsoft Excel® can work very well to format
treasurer’s reports.

Chapter 5: Treasurer’s Report 31

Self-Help Accounting© 2003 Energize, Inc.



For My Successor

Treasurer's reports are prepared on the following schedule:

Things to remember are:
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I n terna l  Contro l

Internal control refers to a system of financial checks and balances designed to
protect your organization. It is a system that tries to make sure money is being spent
in the way the board wants it to be spent. It also provides some assurance that
money or other things of value do not disappear and that mistakes do not occur.

One of the basics of good internal control is that no one person should handle all
aspects of any financial transaction. This creates a system of “checks and balances.”
An example is that the person who approves a bill to be paid should not be the same
person who signs the check to pay it.

However, it is likely that your organization has no paid staff support, there are only
one or two bank accounts (checking and savings) and there is you—the treasurer. It
may not be easy or practical (you may cover a wide geographical area) to involve several
people in all financial transactions and therefore you may be assuming that your
organization will have poor internal control. However, I will be suggesting some
possible safeguards to alleviate this potential problem.

Most of the organizations for which this book is written will have “cash” as their
only asset. There will be no receivables, buildings or equipment, inventory, bank
loans, or accounts payable (other than a few unpaid bills). Whatever is in the bank is
what is available for the purposes of the organization. Therefore, internal control
procedures need to be developed primarily for cash receipts and cash disbursements.

Cash Receipts (Income)

Cash (checks or currency) should be deposited in the bank as soon as possible. It
is best if only one person, preferably the treasurer, handles all receipts. If any other
members of the organization receive money, they should turn it over to the treasurer
as soon as possible, with an explanation of what the amount is for. The treasurer
should also count the money received and give the other person a receipt indicating
the amount received.

There may be situations in which another member may receive a large number of
checks and currency. This could include the person running a membership campaign,
the chair of a conference, or the chair of a fundraising event (see Chapter 7, “Special
Cash Receipts”). In such cases, you may want that person to make deposits directly
to the bank to avoid delay and risk of loss. When this occurs, a copy of the deposit
ticket should be forwarded to the treasurer immediately. It is important that the
treasurer be given a detailed listing of what was included in each deposit. Remember
the idea of using the deposit slip as the cash receipts record.

6
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Cash Disbursements (Expenses)

Any invoice (bill) should be approved for payment by the person who knows what
the expense was for. For internal control purposes, it is best that this be someone
other than the treasurer. The authority to approve invoices may be restricted to the
president or certain committee chairs. The minutes of the board of directors should
record who can approve invoices.

Sometimes an invoice may be just a note from a member of the organization for
reimbursement of some things paid by him or her (see below). The point is that an
invoice does not have to be a formal receipt from a store.

As indicated above, it is best if a third person approves the invoice (the presenter
of the invoice and the treasurer who makes the payment being the other two people).
This provides a system of checks and balances. Since, from a practical standpoint,
most invoices originate with someone other than the treasurer, few difficult or
complicated situations should arise.
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The treasurer should be sure that any time s/he receives a bill to be paid, approval
is indicated by a signature or initials and a date. As invoices are paid, the check
number and date should be written on the invoice and it should be filed in check
number order. If you write more than 20 to 30 checks per month, you may want to
consider filing the invoices alphabetically by payee.

The rule to follow is: set up a payment system that prevents an
invoice from being paid twice and a filing system that allows a paid
invoice to be found easily if needed.

Bank Reconciliation

As already discussed, all bank accounts must be reconciled each month. The best
internal control would be to have the bank mail the monthly bank statement to
someone who is not a check signer and that s/he obtain the checkbook and reconcile
the account “independently” of the treasurer. This may not be practical, in which case
the treasurer must be the one to reconcile the account each month.

Bonding

Unfortunately I must point out that treasurers (and other members) of nonprofit
organizations have been known to misuse funds. This can be very embarrassing to
the board and can be expensive for, or even ruin, an organization. Some groups
purchase an insurance policy to protect themselves against misuse of their funds. This
type of insurance is called a “fidelity bond” or “bonding.” It is usually quite
inexpensive and is something your board of directors should consider.

Discuss this with an insurance agent.



For My Successor

This is our system for providing “checks and balances”:
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Special Cash Receipts

If your organization collects members’ dues, runs an annual conference, sells
things on a regular basis, or holds a fundraising event, you may want to use the
following procedures to keep track of these activities separately.

Members’ Dues or Conference Registrations

People such as the Membership Chair or Conference Chair are the logical ones to
receive checks or cash for their function. Of course, they can collect such funds and
hand them to the treasurer for deposit. They can also mail checks (never mail cash!)
to the treasurer. The third option is to permit the collector of the funds to deposit them
directly into the bank.

Regardless of which choice you make, the person collecting the funds should
prepare a record of how much was collected, from whom, and for what. Every time
funds are given to the treasurer or deposited in the bank, one copy of this report
should be given to the treasurer and one copy kept by the preparer. These reports
should be dated, numbered consecutively, and signed by the preparer. These reports
then become a chronological and cumulative financial record of the activity.

A sample report form is shown on page 38. The instructions for completing the
form would be:

1. For each receipt, fill in the “Received From” and the “Total Amount” columns.
Then show what the amount received was for by entering the correct dollar
figure in the appropriate column or columns.

2. If the amount is for conference registration only, the same dollar figure will
be shown in both the “Total Amount” and “Conf. Regis.” columns. However,
if the amount is for both conference registration and for something else, the
correct dollar amount for each must be entered in the proper column.

3. The total of the “Total Amount” column must equal the amount given to the
treasurer or deposited in the bank.

7
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While the sample is for a conference, the same format can be adapted for
membership dues or other similar receipts.

If someone other than the treasurer is depositing funds directly into the bank
account, the deposit ticket must be given to the treasurer with the report. The
treasurer can then make one entry in the checkbook and in the cash receipts journal.

Cash Sales

Your organization may make cash sales in various way throughout the year.  This
could include sales of mugs or tee shirts, dinner tickets at a conference, books, etc.
It is important to have a record of such sales to keep control of inventory and cash.
By using a form such as the one on page 40, you accomplish this goal. Obviously you
should make as many columns as you need.

The advantage of providing a prepared form to your members handling sales is
that it avoids the otherwise inevitable use of yellow pads, scraps of paper, and other
informal methods of recordkeeping. If you have several people working at the same
time, each person can have his or her own copy of the form, but everyone will be
using the same system.

Use of this type of form simplifies knowing how much cash should be accounted
for at the end of the shift and exactly what was sold.

Special Events

Many organizations work with a relatively small amount of money most of the
time. But once or twice a year, they have a special event—a dance, a picnic, a bazaar,
a conference. On that occasion or for the few months around it, an unusually large
amount of money may be received and paid out. Also, during this time many
members may be involved in handling cash.

Consideration should be given to the financial management of this type of event.
It may be a good idea to appoint a treasurer for a special event who is not the
treasurer of the organization.

The special event treasurer would be responsible for all cash received, which can
then be deposited into the regular bank account. S/he would submit “invoices” to the
organization treasurer for payment. All the procedures for handling cash receipts and
disbursements discussed earlier would apply. A statement of income and expenses for
the special event should be prepared by the special event treasurer for presentation
to the board and inclusion in the organization treasurer’s monthly report.

The advantages of appointing a special event treasurer are: 1) it relieves the
organization treasurer of being responsible for all the financial aspects of the
organization and therefore “spreads” the work; 2) it gives someone experience as a
treasurer who then has the potential to become the organization’s treasurer in the
future; and 3) for an organization that has a special event in a geographic area not
near the organization treasurer, it enables someone “on the spot” to be responsible
for the finances and handling of cash.

If the event generates significant cash transactions, you may consider opening a
special bank account and closing it after the event. If you do this, all the procedures
for opening and operating a bank account should be followed.
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Beginning Cash Fund

You may need a beginning cash fund for making change, which can be handled
similarly to petty cash (see Chapter 4). Based upon previous experience or an
estimate, a specific amount should be approved by the board of directors. The
treasurer writes a check to the chairperson of the event or to the special events
treasurer (never write a check to “cash”) to provide a beginning cash fund.

Depending on the event, you might have one central or several cash boxes. For
instance, if the event is a bazaar with several booths, each booth can be given a
specific amount of cash with which to begin. This amount should be written down.

At the end of the event, or at intervals during the event to prevent large amounts
of cash being accumulated in public places, the cash should be counted and given to
the treasurer (or whoever is responsible) with a piece of paper indicating the amount
collected. The treasurer and/or assistants should immediately count the money and
“agree it” to the amount indicated, in the presence of the person turning in the cash.
The purpose for doing this is to try to prevent mistakes and to avoid potentially
embarrassing situations for everyone.

At the end of the event, the amount on hand at each cash box location should be
counted and recorded. Add any amounts previously collected from the location and
subtract the amount that booth was given at the beginning of the event. The resulting
figure is the total amount taken in by that cash box location. The total of all cash box
locations is the “proceeds” of the event.

Keeping track of the cash collected at each booth or entrance can be used in
planning for next year and, if appropriate, to let the members who worked each
location know what they “made” for the organization. Remember, only collect
information you are going to use. Spending a lot of time gathering statistics may be
time consuming or annoying and if no one (including you) really cares or can change
things, don’t waste your time!

One more option to consider is the use of tickets. If you don’t want each booth to
have the problem of making change, you can sell tickets at one or a few central
locations. These tickets are then accepted at each booth instead of cash and only the
ticket sellers handle money. If this is done, the booths must be given clear
instructions as to whether they accept tickets only, how many for each item sold, etc.
They also need to know what to do with tickets received, since these should be
controlled as if they were cash.

One advantage to tickets is that they can be torn in half when used. One decision
you need to make is whether or not you want to count tickets from each booth at the
end of the event. This will determine the type of a receptacle needed to collect the tickets
or stubs.

Organizations such as churches or neighborhood groups often feel mutual trust is
implicit and may therefore feel uncomfortable with some of these security
procedures. However, their purpose is to prevent errors from occurring
during the  hustle and bustle of a busy event. You and your board of directors must
decide what is best for your organization.

Expenses Paid During the Event

Sometimes expenses are paid in cash during the event. The cash should come
from the cash held by the treasurer, not from individual cash boxes. Such
expenditures require an “invoice” (remember our definition of an invoice includes a
handwritten request for payment) showing what goods or services are being paid.
Whenever possible, expenses should be paid by check before or after the event.



Reporting

The treasurer (of the organization or of the event) should prepare a report
showing proceeds and expenses by category and the net amount raised. This report
can follow the format of the treasurer’s report described in Chapter 5, except that it
would be restricted to one event.

For My Successor

The following are our special cash receipts situations:

Event or Sale Item Procedure
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Aud i t  Committee

An organization with a volunteer treasurer and a simple set of accounting records
rarely should need the services of a certified public accountant (CPA). However, to
strengthen the board of directors' control over finances, they may want to appoint an
annual audit committee.

Note: I am using the term “audit” here in a general way. The audit process
described in this chapter is not the same as an audit performed by a certified
public accountant, which is a much more complex procedure and must be done
by someone who is independent of your organization. See Chapter 16, “An
Outside Accountant,” in Part Two. Large organizations using the services of a
CPA also form audit committees whose important function is to serve as liaison
between the organization and the CPA.

Such a committee should consist of two or more members who are willing to
review the treasurer's records. The audit should be performed as soon as is practical
after the end of your organization's fiscal year.

The purpose of an audit committee is to protect both the organization and the
treasurer. An audit gives an organization's supporters confidence that financial
matters have been properly handled. An annual audit gives the treasurer a feeling of
completion of a year's work and protects him/her from criticism from other members.
It should never be considered an insult to the treasurer to form an audit committee.
After all, even though the treasurer keeps the books, the financial records
belong to the organization.

How the Audit Committee Works

There are several steps in performing an audit. First, the audit committee should
be sure a system exists for keeping track of cash receipts and disbursements. The
system need not be complicated, but it should be sufficiently organized and efficient
to meet your organization's needs. Also, the system should enable the treasurer to
make reports to the board and members.

The audit committee must physically examine the financial records. The things
they should check are:

1. Cash receipts
All receipts should be listed by date received, name of payer and reasons for
receipt.

The committee should: look at the cash receipts journal.

8
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2. Cash disbursements
All disbursements should be listed by date paid, name of payee and reason for
being paid.

The committee should: look at the cash disbursements journal.

Note: Remember that the cash receipts journal and the cash disbursements
journal may actually be the checkbook.

3. Paid invoices
All disbursements should be supported by an invoice and these should be filed by
paid date or by vendor. The check number and date paid should be written on the
invoice.

Remember that an invoice may be a note from a member of the organization
listing items to be reimbursed. It does not have to be a formal receipt from a
store.

Preferably, all invoices should be approved by someone other than the check
signer.

The committee should: examine a sample1 of the paid invoices to be sure the
organization's approval system has been followed. If there are any unusually large
dollar items, these should be examined.

4. Cancelled checks
All checks must be signed by the authorized check signer(s).

The committee should: examine the signatures on a sample of cancelled checks.
If checks are filed numerically, this can be  done easily by fanning the checks and
scanning the signatures. Any unusual signature should be questioned. If two
signatures are required on checks above a certain amount, make sure this
procedure is being followed.

Next, to make sure that all checks are supported by invoices, trace from a sample
of cancelled checks to their supporting invoices. For these same checks, also be
sure that the check has been endorsed by the person or organization to whom it
was written.

5. Bank accounts
All bank accounts should be reconciled monthly.

The committee should: look at the monthly reconciliation worksheets. It is not
necessary to check the arithmetic except on the year-end reconciliation. That
should be reviewed in detail.

6. Unpaid bills and amounts due         At year end, unpaid bills (invoices) and     
amounts due the organization (pledges, etc.) should be listed.

The committee should: review the list to be sure it is correct and all inclusive.
Check if the bills have been paid and if the amounts receivable have been collected
since year end.
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7. Salaries and wages2

If any salaries or wages are paid, employees earnings records must be
maintained. Withheld taxes must be paid and reports filed with the appropriate
government agency.

The committee should: check that pay rates are those approved by the board of
directors and reflected in the minutes. Look at the copies of the payroll tax returns
to be sure they have been completed and filed.

8. Treasurer's report
The numbers in the year-end treasurer's report should be   traceable to the cash
receipts and disbursements records.

The committee should: check that the year-end totals in the cash receipts and
disbursements records agree with the treasurer's report.

9. Government reports2

The Federal Form 990 and any reports to state charity regulators should be completed
and filed on time.

The committee should: look at a copy of each report/return.

(In Appendix A you will find a worksheet titled “Guidelines for an Audit Committee
for an Organization without an Outside Accountant.” It is a checklist that follows
the sequence of steps just outlined.)

As the audit is being performed, committee members should note any questions
they have. These should then be discussed with the treasurer. Any unresolved
items should be reported to the board.

Reporting to the Board

After the audit committee has finished its review, a written report should be
prepared for the board. A suggested report format is shown in Appendix A.

1“Sample” means a representative number of items. It is usually not necessary to look at every item,
though any individual large dollar amount item or unusual item should be examined.

2Payroll taxes and government reports are discussed in Part Two, Chapter 15
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PART TWO

ThE lARgER
ORgANizATiON

Please  do  not  stop  reading.

Someday your organization may
grow large enough to have a staff
and need an outside accountant. The
next several chapters will give more
information on financial statements,
budgets,  cash  flow analysis, choosing
and using a certified public account-
ant, and how to get help. Some of
these topics go beyond the immedi-
ate needs of a “small” organization,
but reading these chapters will give
you ideas for now as well as an
understanding of things you need to
prepare for as you grow.
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Financial Responsibilities

of a Board of Directors

(Revisited)

The board of directors of any organization, nonprofit or profit-making, is
responsible for that organization. In a small organization, board members will often
handle some or all of the program, fundraising and administrative duties. In a larger
organization, employees carry out the day-to-day activities as envisioned by the
board. All boards have three major governance responsibilities:

1. Setting the organization’s mission, goals, policies and procedures.
2. Reviewing the organization’s activity.
3. Evaluating the organization’s performance.

Determining the mission of an organization is very important and must be written
down. It may be included in the articles of incorporation and bylaws. It should be
reviewed and discussed at least once a year. Otherwise, you may not really know why
the board meets or what it is you hope to accomplish. A mission statement should not
be changed frequently, but it should be re-examined and changed if necessary.

From the mission statement, which probably is rather idealistic, should flow the
goals and objectives of the organization. The objectives should be of fairly short-term
orientation and basically answer the question: What are we going to accomplish this
year? As managers, the board (with the input of any paid staff) should determine
measurable outcomes and clear timeframes. For instance: we will recruit 16
volunteers to run 8 camping trips this year, or we will feed 60 senior citizens each day.
Stating that “we will keep the park clean” is not definite enough to help the
organization know what needs to be done or if it has been accomplished.

You may be wondering why I am saying all this in a book about accounting. It is
because finances do not exist in a vacuum. Unless and until your board knows what
activities it wants to undertake in the coming year, the questions of how much money
your organization needs and the best ways to handle it are premature. As treasurer,
you have an important responsibility in helping the board see the connection
between finances and program.

Policies and procedures will have to be established by the board and followed by
everyone in order to achieve the goals set (how are we going to meet what we said
our goals were?). For the small organization, individual board members probably will
also be the ones doing the work of the organization. In this situation, they are the
“staff” as well as the decision-makers. Procedures are best written by the person who

Self-Help Accounting© 2003 Energize, Inc.
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does it (whatever “it” is). But procedures should be reviewed by someone with an
overall vision. This probably is the entire board of directors. If nothing else, the board
should be sure that its goals are being pursued by policies and procedures that are
consistent with the mission of the organization.

Reviewing organizational activity means either having first-hand knowledge of
what is happening or getting reports from those who do. This information should be
shared monthly or, at a minimum, quarterly, with all board members.

Evaluating organizational performance flows from the review of activities. Are the
things that are occurring working towards the goals that were set? Do changes have
to be made? Were the goals and objectives too ambitious or too easy? If it is the
middle of the year, are we half-way there? If a festival is planned for September, will
we be ready? Are our programs being carried out in an efficient and effective way,
following the procedures we set to accomplish our goals?

What you have just read is only the tip of the iceberg called “governance.” There
are many excellent books and articles devoted to governance and management in
general and boards of directors in particular. Therefore it is not my intention to cover
everything that you may need to know about running your organization. I encourage
you to be aware of the full spectrum of managerial issues, though this book
necessarily focuses on finances.

Financial Management

The finances of an organization also require goals, policies, procedures,
review and evaluation. If you do not know where your money is coming from (and
when) and where your money is going to (and when), you are not in control…and
probably headed for problems.

There are two main board activities that address financial goals: preparation and
approval of the budget, and ongoing review of financial status.

The board should review the reasonableness of the assumptions used in the
preparation of the budget. The board should ensure that the amount needed to be
raised can be achieved and that the amount to be spent on each type of expense is
a realistic estimate of the cost of providing the desired level of services. We'll go into
this in more detail in the chapter on budgeting.

The board should review the current financial status of the organization and be
sure that action is taken on a timely basis to correct unfavorable trends. Financial
statements are the basic tool for accomplishing this and will be covered in a later
chapter.

The board must have a treasurer (you!). As we discussed in Part One, s/he is
responsible for making sure that adequate and accurate financial records are
maintained. S/he should also participate in developing the budget, prepare the
financial statements and be sure all federal, state, and local government and funding
source reports are filed.

It is important to reiterate that the election or appointment of a treasurer does not
relieve other board members of their fiscal responsibilities. It merely recognizes the
practicality of making one person responsible for keeping the books. The board must
be sure the treasurer is doing his/her job. This can be accomplished by reading the
treasurer's report and asking questions about things that are unclear or seem
unusual. Common sense is a good guide.

Part One made the assumption that the volunteer treasurer keeps all the financial
records. Part Two assumes a larger organization and the likelihood that there is paid
staff that keeps some or all of the financial records. However, even in the largest
nonprofit organizations with a very large number of employees, a full accounting
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department and a national CPA firm, the treasurer and the board are still
responsible for fiscal management. The accounting department will physically
prepare the financial statements, the CPA firm will audit them, but the volunteer
treasurer should be able to present the financial statements to the board of directors.
It is imperative that the treasurer understands the financial statements.

I repeat: the volunteer treasurer need not be a professional accountant. But s/he
must be willing to spend the time to study the financial statements so s/he can
answer questions from the other directors, even if there may be some details s/he
will ask the staff to explain. My assumption is that all the directors are generally
intelligent people who care about the purpose of the organization and together will
fulfill their obligations as a board to exercise oversight of the organization's finances.

Accountants

Let's talk a bit about “accountants” and “accounting.” When people say, “the
accountant will take care of it,” they may be referring to any number of people with
differing responsibilities related to finances. The person who keeps the books may be
called a “bookkeeper.” S/he is skilled but generally only maintains financial records,
without making decisions regarding finances. As this person is given more responsibility
(and probably brings greater education to the job), the title can change to “staff
accountant” or “financial officer.” When the title becomes “controller,” “treasurer,” or
“vice-president of finance,” the person has more authority, with broad responsibility
for all aspects of the accounting department. The volunteer treasurer for whom this book
is written may function as all of the above!

A certified public accountant (CPA), or chartered accountant (CA) in Canada, is not
“part” of the organization. S/he is independent, knowledgeable in accounting, and
licensed by the state or province. His/her role is to provide board members, contributors,
employees, etc. with independent assurance that the financial systems and financial
statements of the organization properly reflect the financial transactions that have taken
place.



For My Successor

When discussing the board's financial responsibilities (try to do this at least once a
year), remember to make these points:
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Preparing for Financial Reporting

For-profit companies issue financial statements for use by their current and
potential stockholders and to meet other reporting obligations. Nonprofit
organizations also must prepare financial statements to meet the needs of various
“users.”

The first and most important “user” of a nonprofit organization's financial
statements is its board of directors. Board members require financial information to
assist them in making important decisions on how the organization will be operated
and what projects will be undertaken with the available resources. They need to know
if the organization is achieving its established financial goals and objectives and they
must have timely, accurate information in order to determine if results are significantly
different from those planned.

Other possible users of a nonprofit organization’s financial statements are:

1) Contributors, including individuals, foundations, and businesses, who will
use the financial statements to make decisions concerning their
contributions. They may be may be interested, for example, in the
amount of funds spent on program-related activities versus the amount
spent for fundraising and administration. In addition, if their contribution
was restricted for a particular program or project, they will want to know
that those funds were, in fact, used for that purpose.

2) Governments, particularly at the federal and state level, which require the
reporting of certain organizational information, including financial data. This
includes the Federal Form 990 and reports to state regulatory agencies.

3) Creditors and potential creditors, such as banks and other lending
institutions, who want to know the level of resources available to meet
current and future loans, mortgages, and other obligations.

4) Others, such as the beneficiaries of the organization's program or its employees.

10
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Once you have identified the specific user(s) of your financial statements, you can
make decisions as to the type and extent of the financial information that should be
included. Financial statements prepared for external use are usually prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles promulgated by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB). These principles, sample financial statements for
different types of nonprofit organizations, and a variety of reporting formats are
contained in several available guidebooks. References are given in Appendix D.

Basic financial statements will usually include:

Balance Sheet

Statement of Activity (Statement of Support, Revenues and Expenses and
Changes in Fund Balance)

Statement of Functional Expenses

Notes to the Financial Statements

Depending on your type of organization, one of two additional statements may
be needed: Statement of Changes in Financial Position or Statement of Cash
Flows

While accountants or certified public accountants frequently prepare the financial
statements, the board and staff of the organization are responsible for the
information reported and the format of the financial statements presented. The
independent accountant's responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
statements based on his/her audit. This opinion indicates whether or not the
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles. The opinion is that of the independent accountant, but
the financial statements belong to the organization and are the responsibility of the
organization's management.

Each of the basic financial statements listed above will be explained in a
subsequent chapter, but first I need to discuss an important accounting concept: the
cash versus accrual basis of accounting.

Cash Versus Accrual

There are two methods of keeping accounting records: cash and accrual.
Many nonprofit organizations (and most of those whose treasurers only read Part

One of this book) are on the cash basis. Being on the cash basis means you record
transactions only when they affect cash. If someone sends in a donation of $100 in
March, it is recorded as income in March. If someone pledges $50 in March but gives
you the money in June, it is recorded as income in June, when you receive it.

If you pay $125 for stationery in April, it is recorded as an expense in April. If you
order and receive stationery in May, but pay for it in June, it is recorded as an expense
in June.

You may be thinking: “well, cash accounting makes sense.” But I suggest this
method of accounting may be misleading.
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Why? Because consideration of only the cash transactions of a certain period does
not give an accurate picture of an organization's financial situation. It does not show
bills to be paid nor expected receipts. Such dollar amounts may substantially alter the
financial picture.

For example, the Strawberry Festival held on June 23rd rents a tent for $300
(payable on July 6) and takes in $1,400 in cash. At the July 1 board meeting, should
the treasurer report income from the Festival of $1,400 (cash deposited) or $1,100
(cash taken in, less the cost of the tent yet to be paid)?

Now let's add another variable. It was agreed that one of the exhibitors at the
Festival would pay the booth fee of $600 by July 10. At the July 1 board meeting,
should the treasurer report income from the Festival of $1,700 (cash taken in, plus
the booth fee to be received, less the cost of the tent yet to be paid)?

If the proceeds of the Strawberry Festival are pledged to a charitable cause, does
the board of directors have $1,400 (on the cash basis) or $1,700 (on the accrual
basis) to donate?

The cash basis of accounting reflects only the cash receipts and cash
disbursements of an organization. The accrual basis, on the other hand, reflects
transactions when they happen, not when cash changes hands. As an example, if
candy is sold, the sale (income) is recorded in the financial records at the time the
candy is delivered to the buyer and an “account receivable” (an amount due from
someone else) is also recorded. When a check is received in payment for the candy
(in the same or a future month), the account receivable is reduced by the amount
received.

As another example, the stationery received in May is recorded as an expense in
May, regardless of when it is paid for and an “account payable” is recorded. If the
invoice for the stationery is paid in June, the account payable is reduced accordingly
(in June). The basic principle is to match income (revenue, donations, etc.) against
related expenses. The time when cash is received or expended is not the guiding
factor. In the Strawberry Festival example above, I hope it is clear that the accrual
basis of accounting is the most accurate and gives the board the best picture of how
much money they will be able to donate to their charity: $1,700, which should be
available to them on July 10.

Which Is for You?

Accrual accounting is preferable for all organizations, nonprofit or for-profit, large
or small, in the preparation of their financial statements. CPAs usually insist on the
accrual basis because the cash basis can, and frequently does, present misleading
financial information. The accrual basis is one of the elements of what is called
“generally accepted accounting principles,” or GAAP.

However, some small organizations use the cash basis of accounting because they
rarely have assets other than cash and have no significant “accounts payable.”
Therefore, for them, the cash and the accrual bases produce the same results.

Fixed Assets and Depreciation

There is another accrual accounting concept which is very important and needs to
be discussed. GAAP requires the recording of fixed assets on an organization's
balance sheet and depreciation of those assets over their estimated useful lives.

Stop! Let me define “assets,” “fixed assets,” and “depreciation.”
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Assets are anything that an organization owns or has owed to it. This includes
cash, inventory, and accounts receivable.

Fixed assets are tangible, long-term assets such as land, buildings, furniture and
equipment owned for use, rather than for sale.

Depreciation is systematically charging (over its estimated useful life) the cost of
a fixed asset against an organization's income. This process reflects the lost
usefulness or expired utility of a fixed asset. Depreciation is a bookkeeping entry,
does not represent any cash outlay, and does not imply any accumulation of funds to
replace the asset.

Let's look at an example. Your organization purchases a computer system for
$3000. In all likelihood, you will pay the $3000 by check shortly after delivery.
However, you will expect the computer to serve your organization beyond the current
fiscal year. Therefore, showing the $3000 cost of the computer as an expense in the
year of purchase would overstate the expenses for that year. If we agree that the
computer will be useful for three years, it is more accurate to charge each one of
those years with one-third of the cost, showing $1000 as an expense in each year.
Through this process the entire cost of the computer is ultimately written off as an
expense.

There is no question that depreciation accounting requires recordkeeping. For this
reason, in the past many nonprofit organizations took the easier route of showing the
cost of fixed assets as an expense in the year acquired. However, to be in accordance
with GAAP, if the costs of fixed assets are significant in relation to the budget of an
organization, they must be recorded as fixed assets and depreciated.

Fund Accounting

The financial statements of nonprofit organizations are generally prepared on the
fund basis of accounting. This means records are maintained for each project that
receives contributions designated for that specific project. Reports must be made on
each project separately. Each such set of records is called a “fund.”

If all contributions received by an organization are for general operating purposes,
there would be only one “fund.” Additional funds are created when grants and
donations are received for specific projects. The number and types of funds that are
maintained will vary from organization to organization.

It is important to note that it is usually not necessary to keep separate bank
accounts or separate books for each fund. What you do need is a system for keeping
track of the transactions affecting each fund. I recognize that the terms of some grant
agreements may require separate bank accounts, but this is the exception and not
the rule.

Fund Balance

We are now going to talk about what is probably the most difficult concept in this
book: fund balance. It is an accounting term that is used only in conjunction with
nonprofit organizations. Fund balance represents the net amount of resources
available for carrying out the objectives of the organization. It is calculated
arithmetically: Total Assets less Total Liabilities equals Fund Balance.

Remember, an organization may have several funds. The common ones are:
General (operating purposes); Fixed Assets; Restricted (those funds received for
specific projects); and Endowments (money given to the organization from which
income earned on the amount given can be used, but the actual money cannot be
used at all or for a long period of time).



Unrestricted and Restricted Fund Balances

An unrestricted fund balance can be used for any purpose approved by the board
of directors that is within the charitable purpose of the organization. A restricted fund
balance is one that can only be used for the purpose specified by the donor or grantor.
Although the general fund is unrestricted, the board of directors may designate part
of the general fund for a specific purpose, such as program expansion. The difference
is that a restricted fund balance can only be changed by the donor or grantor or
through legal proceedings. A board designation of the general fund can be changed
by a future action of the board.

Deferred Income

Deferred income is a type of liability that nonprofit organizations often have.
Deferred income is created when an organization receives a grant, membership dues
or subscription income in one fiscal period but will use it in a subsequent fiscal period.

For instance, an organization whose year end is December 31 receives a grant in
November for a program that will start in February. At December 31, the amount of
the grant received is “deferred income.” The same organization has members that join
throughout the year. The membership income to the organization of a member who
joins in May is 7/12ths earned at December 31 and 5/12ths deferred income.

Deferred income is a short- or long-term liability, not part of fund balance. It is,
in effect, something the organization owes someone else.

Dollar Value of Volunteers

Every organization using this book benefits from the services of volunteers. You,
the volunteer treasurer, are one good example. I believe that volunteer hours should
be recorded, valued, and reported. Only by doing this can you determine the true cost
of the services performed by your organization. Knowing this total dollar value can
help you in fundraising by showing funders the amount of community support for your
program.

The rationale for and the process of valuing volunteer contributions of time are
beyond the scope of this book. However, these are explained more fully in another
book, From the Top Down: The Executive Role in Volunteer Program Success, by
Susan J. Ellis, Philadelphia: Energize, Inc., 1996. 
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The Financial Records

(Revisited)

In Chapter 4, I suggested that small organizations may be able to keep all needed
financial information in their checkbook. The next level of recordkeeping is the cash
receipts and cash disbursements journals. But a larger organization will probably
need additional journals or ledgers to maintain its financial records.

At this point, our discussion could get very complex. Instead, I am going to
describe briefly some of these additional accounting records. That way you will know
they exist. You may be able to set them up yourself, but I suggest this is when you
might want to consider professional accounting assistance (see Chapter 17 on “How
to Get Help”). Once the systemis set up, you may be able to maintain it yourself. You
may then need an accountant's help only at year end or you may be ready to
purchase ongoing accounting services (as staff or on a consulting basis).

Payroll Journal

If you have employees, you must keep a record of gross salaries or wages less
applicable payroll taxes or other deductions and the amount paid. A payroll journal
records this information and enables you to prepare the various payroll tax returns
that are required.

Easy to use payroll books can be purchased in most office supply stores. There are
ones available for even small numbers of employees. This is another area for which
accounting software can be very helpful. 

General Ledger

A general ledger provides a systematic way to keep track of additions to and
subtractions from each different “account” and to determine a balance at any point in
time. An account is a record of the transactions in a specific category such as cash,
equipment, accounts payable, contributions, postage or telephone. The information
entered in the general ledger comes from the other accounting records you are
keeping and serves to summarize that information.

A general ledger is almost always divided into sections for: Assets; Liabilities;
Revenue and Support; and Expenses. Under each will be a page for every specific
account, with columns headed “debit,” “credit,” and “balance.”

11
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I am sure you have heard the terms “debit” and “credit.” These are the accounting
terms used to indicate columns in journals and ledgers. These affect assets, liabilities,
revenue and support, and expense accounts differently.

General Journal 

There are some transactions that do not affect cash and cannot be entered
through the cash receipts or cash disbursements journals. A “general journal” is used
for this purpose. Another use is to record adjusting entries.

Had Enough?

This is the line of demarcation between my giving you information and my trying
to teach you accounting. Since the latter is not my goal, when you are ready to set
up a general ledger or use a general journal, I suggest you purchase a basic
accounting textbook and/or talk with an accountant.
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Basic Financial Statements

Let us now consider each of the “basic financial statements.”

Balance Sheet

The balance sheet summarizes the assets, liabilities, and fund balances of an
organization. It is a “snapshot” at a specific point in time, presenting the financial
position of an organization on a specific date.

The assets (cash, receivables, fixed assets, etc.) and the liabilities (accounts
payable, loans payable, etc.) should be classified on the balance sheet as to current
and long-term. “Current” means the asset is available for use, or the liability is
payable, within one year. “Long-term” means more than one year.

“Fund Balance” represents the net amount of resources available for carrying out
the objectives of the organization. As we said before, the arithmetic calculation is:
Total Assets less Total Liabilities equals Fund Balance.

Statement of Activity

This statement is usually known as a “statement of support, revenue and expenses,
and changes in fund balance.” The statement summarizes the revenue and expenses for
the period and includes a reconciliation of the fund balance at the beginning and the end
of the period. This statement can be presented in several different formats, but should
identify:

Major sources of revenue and support

Restricted revenue and related expenses

Expenses by the following categories: program, fundraising, and general
and administration

“Program” includes all expenses made to carry out the charitable purposes
for which the organization has been formed. “Fundraising” includes all
expenses needed to raise funds. “General and administration” covers the
expenses of the necessary administrative functions. There will be expense
items that will need to be allocated among these three categories.

12
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The excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses

This is what we think of as “net income (loss).” However, nonprofits do not
use this term because traditionally it has implied a for-profit enterprise.
Instead nonprofits use the more cumbersome wording: “excess (deficiency)
of revenue over expenses.”

Statement of Functional Expenses

The statement of functional expenses is prepared for the same period as the
statement of activity. It shows expenses by item (such as salaries, rent, telephone)
for program, fundraising, and general and administration. Under “program,” there
should be a separate column for each major activity area. For certain types of
nonprofit organizations, it may be considered acceptable to include this information
in the statement of activity.

Notes to the Financial Statements

Almost all financial statements will have some notes to them. These are important and
users of financial statements should always read the footnotes. Examples of notes are:

1. General information about the organization.

2. A summary of significant accounting policies.

3. Separate explanations of any important facts, such as if assets are pledged
against a bank loan, if any property is leased and future lease obligations,
any pension plans and future payments required, etc.

The next five pages are a set of financial statements for Hometown Agency. The
first page is the independent auditor's report, described in more detail in Chapter 16.
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JANE ACCOUNTANT
Certified Public Accountant

Board of Directors
Hometown Agency
Some Street
Ellis City, PA 19144

Independent Auditor’s Report

I have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Hometown Agency as of December 31,
19X2, and the related statements of support, revenue and expenses for the year then eneded.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Agency’s management. My responsibili-
ty is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those stan-
dards require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, financial statements. An auidt also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial state-
ment presentation. I believe that my audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in a material respects,
the financial position of Hometown Agency as of December 31, 19X2, and the results of its
operations and changes in fund balances for the year ended in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Jane Accountant
Jane Accountant

May 4, 19X3
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HOMETOWN AGENCY
Balance Sheets

December 31, 19x2 and 19x1

19x2____________ 19x1____________

Current Fund___________

Assets_____
Cash $  70,924 $  58,413

Grant receivable ____________ 12,000____________

Total Assets $  70,924________________________
$  70,413________________________

Liabilities and Fund Balances____________________
Accounts payable $  15,419____________ $  17,827____________

Fund balances:
Restricted 10,267 9,419
Unrestricted 45,238___________ 43,167___________

Total fund balances 55,505___________ 52,586___________

Total liabilities and fund balances $  70,924________________________     $  70,413________________________

Equipment Fund_______________
Assets_____

Furniture and equipment, at cost $  40,921 $  40,921
Less accumulated depreciation 28,162___________ 27,423___________

Total assets 12,759________________________ 13,498________________________

Fund Balance__________

Fund Balance $  12,759________________________ $  13,498________________________
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HOMETOWN AGENCY
Statement of Support, Revenue and Expenses

and Changes in Fund Balances
for the Year Ended December 31, 19X2

with Comparative Totals for 19X1

      C u r r e n t  F u n d   Equipment T o t a l—A l l  F u n d s
Unrestricted Restricted Fund 19X2 19X1

Public Support:
Contributions 45,765$    45,765$    42,215$   
Foundations 25,000     2,000$    27,000      26,000     
Government 23,000     23,500      23,500     
United Way 35,000     35,000      32,500     

Total 129,265    2,000      131,265    124,215   

Revenue:
Membership dues 8,727       8,727       8,116       
Investment Income 1,423       1,423       1,581       
Miscellaneous 3,097       3,097       2,359       

Total 13,247     13,247      12,056     

Total support and revenue 142,512    2,000      144,512    136,271   

Expenses:
Program services 87,037     1,152      739$     88,928      84,973     
Management and general 33,423     33,423      29,894     
Fund raising 19,981     19,981      17,539     

Total expenses 140,441    1,152      739      142,332    132,406   

Excess (deficiency) of support
and revenue over expenses 2,071       848         (739)     2,180       3,865       

Fund balances, beginning 43,167     9,419      13,498  66,084      92,219     
$45,238 $10,267 $12,759 $68,264      $66,084     

Communication First

Communication First

Communication First

Communication First

Communication First
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HOMETOWN AGENCY
Statement of Functional Expenses

for the Year Ended December 31, 19X2
with Comparative Totals for 19X1

See Notes to Financial Statements

  U n r e s t r i c t e d    
Program Management Fund T o t a l—A l l  F u n d s
Services and general Raising Restricted 19X2 19X1

Salaries 53,098$       21,990$       15,659$ 90,747$   84,612$   
Payroll taxes & benefits 11,266         4,959           3,506      19,731      17,873      
Rent 11,033         2,802           13,835      13,001      
Electricity 1,417            471               1,888        1,762        
Office supplies 1,076            416               1,492        914           
Equipment Rental 897               615               1,512        1,393        
Telephone 2,743            938               3,681        2,992        
Postage 1,682            214               816         2,712        3,043        
Travel 1,962            1,962        1,684        
Staff development 687               206               1,152      1,152$      2,045        1,474        
Professional fees 500               500           450           
Insurance 934               312               1,246        872           
Miscellaneous 242               242           1,597        
Total expenses

before depreciation 87,037         33,423         19,981    1,152        141,593   131,667   

Depreciation of 
furniture and equipment 739               739           739           

Total expenses 87,776$       33,423$       19,981$ 1,152$      142,332$ 132,406$ 
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HOMETOWN AGENCY
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, l9X2

Note 1 - Nature of Organization

Hometown Agency was founded in 19XX to provide needed “specific” services to the
community.

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Support and Revenue

Support and revenue are accounted for on the accrual basis of accounting and are considered
to be available for general operations unless specifically restricted by the donor. Restricted
funds are deemed to be earned and reported as revenue when the organization has incurred
expenditures in compliance with the specific restrictions imposed by the grantor or donor.

Expenses

The costs of the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional
basis in the statement of support, revenue and expenses and changes in fund balances.
Expenses are accounted for on the accrual basis of accounting.

Furniture and Equipment and Depreciation

Furniture and equipment are recorded at cost when purchased and at current market value at
the date of contribution, when contributed. Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives (principally five years) of the assets.

Income Tax Status

Hometown Agency is a tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code.

Comparative Information

Fund totals for 19X1 are included for comparative purposes only, and are not intended to pres-
ent financial position, results of operations and changes in fund balances in conformity with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles.

Note 3 - Lease Commitment

Hometown Agency leases its office space on a year-to-year basis. For the year ended
December 31, 19X2, the annual cost was approximately $14,000.
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Statement of Changes in Financial Position/
Statement of Cash Flows 

One of two additional financial statements may also be needed: “statement of
changes in financial position” or “statement of cash flows.” However, what is required
is currently under discussion in accounting circles.

Both statements show, in different formats, a summary of the organization's
available resources and their use during the same period as the statement of activity.
This helps the user assess the organization's ability to generate cash and its ability to
meet its obligations. Examples of both statements are shown on pages 70 and 71.

As of the writing of this book, voluntary health and welfare organizations do not
have to include either statement in their “basic financial statements.” Most other
nonprofit organizations must include a statement of changes in financial position. A
statement of cash flows is now required for for-profit businesses. There is a growing
sentiment among accountants that this statement also would be useful for nonprofit
organizations and I therefore anticipate that a statement of cash flows will be required for
all nonprofit organizations in the future.

Additional Information

Thus far, we have discussed the basic financial statements. An organization may
provide any additional information it considers meaningful to the users of its financial
statements. Examples of additional information include:

Comparison of budgeted revenue with actual revenue

Comparison of budgeted expenses with actual expenses

Schedule of investments

Schedule of endowment fund balances

Period

As you probably noted, each financial statement above is prepared as of a date or for
a “period.” The usual period is one year and the date is the last day of the year, such as:
“the year ended June 30, 19XX” and “as of June 30, 19XX.”

But “year” can mean many things to a nonprofit organization. First, of course, there is
the calendar year from January 1 to December 31.

Second, there is the program year which covers the months of active meetings. For
many nonprofit organizations, this is September through June, with no meetings in the
summer months.

Third, there is the administrative year which covers the period during which the
officers' terms run or from one annual meeting to the next.

Fourth, there is the fiscal year which is the period which ends with the date of the annual
report. This is usually twelve months and ends on the last day of a month.

Fifth, there is the membership year, or the period during which a member remains in
good standing on the basis of payment of one year's dues.

And sixth, there is the budget year, the period for which income and expenses are
planned.
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All or some of these “years” may be the same. The fiscal year and the budget year must
be the same. The other years—program, administrative and membership—may vary
depending upon your organization's needs and traditions.

From a financial view, we will only be concerned with the fiscal and budget year.

Interim Financial Statements

Thus far in this chapter, our discussion of financial statements has concentrated
on external ones (those prepared for use by people outside of your organization).
Since these statements are usually prepared only on an annual basis, the board and
management of the organization will usually requireinterim financial statements to
assist them in managing the organization throughout the year. These statements are
usually prepared monthly (but should be prepared at least quarterly) and include
more detail of the revenue and expenses than the annual financial statements. In
addition, interim statements should include information that compares the actual
revenue and expenses of the period with the amounts budgeted.

This gives the board and management a better understanding of how the
organization is doing compared to plan.

The interim financial statements should be prepared on the same basis of
accounting (accrual basis) as the annual financial statements. This will reduce the
need for reconciliation between the annual statements and the interim statements.
The treasurer's report (balance sheet and statement of income and expenses)
presented in Chapter 14 is an example of interim financial statements.
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HOMETOWN AGENCY
Statement of Changes in Financial Position

for the Year Ended December 31, 19X2
with Comparative Totals for 19X1

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Operating Equipment T o t a l—A l l  F u n d s  
   Funds      Fund   19X2 19X1

Sources of cash:
Excess (deficiency) of

suport and revenue over expenses 2,919$         (739)$        2,919$          3,865$    
Add-back of items not

requiring cash—depreciation 739          739              739        

Cash provided by 
(used in) operations 2,919           — 2,919           4,604     

Decrease in grant receivable 12,000         12,000          2,000     

Total sources of cash 14,919         — 14,919          6,604     

Uses of cash—decrease —
in accounts payable 2,408           2,408           1,876     

Increase in cash 12,511         — 12,511          4,728     
Cash, beginning of year 58,413         — 58,413          53,685    
Cash, end of year 70,924$          $         — 70,924$        58,413$  
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HOMETOWN AGENCY
Statement of Cash Flows

for the Year Ended December 31, 19X2
Increase (Decrease) in Cash

See Notes to Financial Statements

Operating Equipment Total
   Funds       Fund       All Funds  

Cash flows from Operating Activities:
Cash received from public support 143,265$      143,265$    
Cash received from revenue earned 11,824          11,824        
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (144,001)       (144,001)     
Interest received 1,423           1,423          

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities 12,511          12,511        
Cash at beginning of year 58,413          58,413        

Cash at end of year 70,924$        70,924$      

Reconciliation of excess (deficiency) of 
support and revenue over 
expenses to net cash provided:
Excess (deficiency) of support and
revenue over expenses 2,919$          (739)$        2,180$        

Adjustment to reconcile excess (deficiency)
of support and revenue over expenses

to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 739           739            
Decrease in grant receivable 120,000        12,000        
Decrease in accounts payable (2,408)          (2,408)         

Total adjustments 9,592           739           10,331        

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities                                  $        12,511  $           — 12,511$      
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For My Successor

Our annual financial statements include:

balance sheet

statement of activity

statement of functional expenses

statement of changes in financial position

statement of cash flows

notes to the financial statements

Important dates to us are:

calendar year: January 1 to December31

program year:

administrative year:

fiscal year:

membership year:

budget year:



B u d g e t i n g

An operating budget is the most useful management tool that the board of
directors will develop. The budget should be prepared and adopted by the board prior
to the beginning of each fiscal year and should include the revenue that the
organization expects to earn during the year and the expenses it expects to incur.

The value of having a budget is using it. On a monthly or quarterly basis, the treasurer
should present to the board a report which compares actual revenues and expenses
to those budgeted. This report should also include an explanation of significant
variances from the original budget.

A budget is an estimate, usually prepared two to three months before the fiscal
year begins. It is to be expected that events and their effect on finances will not occur
exactly as predicted. Major variances in revenues and expenses should be examined,
explained and understood. In this way, a board can make decisions about the
operations of the organization. Any corrective actions should be taken as soon as
possible. It is through this process that an organization's finances and their effect on
operations are ''managed.''

Preparing the Budget

A budget is usually prepared for a one-year period. It should be discussed and
approved before the year starts. For a calendar year organization, the budget
probably would be prepared in October or November of the preceding year.

The budget should be developed by a small committee of board members,
including the treasurer. It is the treasurer who has been working with the dollar
figures all year and therefore has the greatest familiarity with the revenues and
expenses of the preceding fiscal year and with the results to date of the current year
(the year you are still in the midst of). In a small organization, this entire “committee”
may be the treasurer, but s/he must consult with officers and committee chairs to be
certain that all projected income and expense items are taken into consideration.

The steps in preparing the budget are:

Step 1: Review the mission statement of the organization.

Have there been any significant changes? What are the specific goals and
objectives to be accomplished over the next year? Avoid philosophy and
generalizations in expressing these goals. What programs need to be car-
ried out to meet the coming year's goals and objectives?

Self-Help Accounting© 2003 Energize, Inc.
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Step 2: Decide how much each organizational activity will cost.

What will be the expenses next year? For a recurring activity, use
experience as a guide. (Note that “activity” includes program, fund-
raising, and general and administration.) You should have available the
dollar figures from preceding fiscal years as well as an estimate for the
current year (this would include actual costs to date plus an estimate for
the balance of the year). For a new program, estimate costs by asking
advice from someone who has done something similar. Be realistic!

Step 3: Decide how much money can be raised.

What sources of funds can be expected? Again, use prior experience as a
guide. Consider any special one-time contributions. Those in the past may
not be repeated and new ones expected in the future should be taken into
account. Be realistic!

Step 4: Compare expenses to revenues.

This is the crucial step in the budgeting process. If, as is often the case,
projected expenses exceed expected revenues, judgements must be made
to decide what to do. It may be necessary to reduce expenses. Or it may
be possible to increase fundraising activities. This is the most difficult
decision point. Do not give in to the tendency to “balance the budget” by
increasing the projected revenues on paper. Think about what are your
reasonable expectations. The economic trends of the community need to
be considered. If yours is a membership organization, has membership
been increasing or decreasing? Make decisions not on what you hope will
occur, but on past experience and on  realistic plans for the future.

Step 5: Based on these considerations, revise the  expenses and
revenues to produce your final budget.

Clearly this process may require moving back and forth between desired
programs and a realistic projection of finances.

Additional Considerations

In all likelihood there will be some funds remaining at the end of the current fiscal
year. Next year's resources will therefore include anticipated revenues plus this year's
ending cash and any investments that are available for operating purposes. Take
these assets into consideration in planning. These are your “margin of error” to cover
your organization in the time between the occurrence of an unexpected event and the
ability to take corrective action. With such reserves, you can take greater risks in
expanding or doing something new.

Some organizations face the difficult question: How large should reserves be? The
answer to this question can vary considerably depending upon the size of your
budget. You need enough so that money is available to cover necessary expenses
when cash flow is inadequate. However, the maximum amount needed by any
organization should not ordinarily exceed one to one-and-a-half times the immediate
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preceding year's total operating expenses.
If no reserves exist, you may need to be more cautious in your planning. Are you

protected if your projections are wrong?
Another thing to consider is that the yearly budget must be broken down into the

same time periods as treasurer's reports will be made to the board of directors.
Assuming monthly reports, there should be a budget for each month. But the dollar
amounts estimated for each line item should not be simply the yearly budget divided
by twelve. They should instead be a genuine estimate for each month. Past
experience should be the guideline as to how to allocate the yearly budget over each
of the twelve months.

For instance, contributions may be the yearly total divided by twelve, but
foundation grants and proceeds from a special event should be shown in the months
they are expected to be received. Similarly, expenses such as rent and telephone do
in fact repeat monthly and therefore can be calculated by dividing the yearly total by
twelve. Other expenses such as insurance premiums, professional fees, or publication
of a membership directory should be shown only in the months in which they are
expected to occur.

Budget Approval

The final budget must be approved by the full board of directors. They should
review the mission statement, the goals, and the assumptions made. When they
approve the budget, they are accepting the responsibility to raise these
funds and oversee these expenditures during the next year.

Once the budget is approved, it should not be “put away until next year.” It should
be compared regularly with actual results and adjustments should be made as
necessary. The next chapter discusses the treasurer's report and this process.
Remember the budget is only a guide. It was approved two or three months before the
budget year began and had to be a forecast. Revenues may not come in as expected.
They may be received in a different month or not materialize at all. Or you may
receive an unexpected bequest. Expenses that are budgeted do not have to be spent.
On the other hand, you may overspend in a particular expense category or a non-
budgeted item can be purchased. If significant changes are made (additions or
deletions), they should be approved by the board and noted in the minutes. This
results in a “revised budget.”

Cash Budget

What has just been described above results in an “operating budget” that
estimates revenues and expenses for the year. If the organization maintains its
financial records on the accrual basis, the operating budget should also be prepared
on the accrual basis.

However, on a practical level, the actual flow of cash is of daily importance to an
organization. Because revenues may not be received in the same month they are
earned and expenses may not be paid in the same month they are incurred, it is
necessary to prepare a “cash budget,” sometimes called a cash flow analysis. This
budget forecasts cash balances on a month-to-month basis.

You start with the cash available at the beginning of a month, add the anticipated
receipts for the month, and subtract the anticipated disbursements for the month.
The result is the cash balance at the end of the month. This statement will assist your
organization in planning its investment possibilities and borrowing needs.

If your organization operates only on the cash basis, the operating budget and
cash budget are one and the same.
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Capital Budget

Organizations that are planning major, long-term capital (fixed assets) projects
in the near future should prepare a “capital budget.” This budget lists, for each project
that is expected to be undertaken in the next three to five years, the anticipated start
and completion dates, the estimated cost, and the expected method of financing. This
analysis will help the board and management in planning and providing adequate
funds for each capital project.

For a small organization, a capital budget is not likely to be needed. When a capital
budget is appropriate, its funding is usually separate from the annual operating
budget.

For My Successor

This is the process we use in developing our budget:
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The Treasurer’s Report

(Revisited)

In Chapter 5, I presented and discussed a simple treasurer's report for Sincere
Society. Let me now present the same report, but with additional information that
makes it more meaningful—see page 78. Keep in mind that Sincere Society's fiscal
year ends December 31.

There is a change in the format of the report. For one thing, my example is now
headed “Statement of Income and Expenses.” For another, I have added additional
columns.

Let's discuss each column:

Column 1: “Month of October—Budget” shows the budgeted amounts for the
month of October only. Remember the discussion in the chapter on budgets:
the monthly budget should not automatically be one-twelfth the annual budget.

Column 2: “Month of October—Actual” shows the actual income and
expenses for the month of October only.

Columns 3 to 5: There are three columns headed “10 Months Ended
October 30.” “Budget” and “Actual” are, respectively, the total of the
budgets for the first ten months and the actual income and expenses for
the same time period. The “(Over) Under” column is, by line item, the budget
amount less the actual amount. If the result is a minus figure, the number
is placed in parentheses in the “(Over)Under” column.

Column 6: “Budget-12-31-XX” is the budget for the entire fiscal year.

One thing that must be remembered is that a number in column 5 that appears in
parentheses indicates an opposite situation for income than for expenses. For income an
“(over)” amount is probably “good,” if it means that more income was received than
expected. An “under” amount is “bad” because less income was received. However, for
expenses, an “(over)” is probably “bad” because more money was spent than was
budgeted. Conversely, an “under” amount is “good” because less was spent. While this is
confusing at first, the interpretation of this column is the most important aspect of the
treasurer's report.

Note that there are footnotes which explain significant amounts in the (over)under
column. In accounting jargon, such amounts are called “variances.” For information
purposes, the footnotes can also list any significant accounts payable.

14
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Modifications

If you feel there are too many columns for your board's monthly needs, let me suggest
the order in which you might leave out columns. The least important column is the
yearly budget (column 6). This column is provided for information only to remind
people of the full year's projections.

The current month's figures (columns 1 and 2) are useful but it is not likely one
month's results will cause the organization to change its program or fundraising activities.
In fact, it probably should not. But several months may produce a trend that suggests
change needs to be considered. That is why the year-to-date figures (columns 3, 4,
and 5) are the most critical to present on each report.

Too often treasurers leave out the (over)under column. But not showing the
variances and explanations reduces the information shared with other members. It
limits the facts available for decision making. Questions should still be asked by alert
members, but some probably will be missed. The treasurer's job is to expose financial
information, not cover it up.

My full suggested format presents the organization's financial information, shows
the actual results versus the amounts budgeted, and explains in the footnotes why
the variances occurred. A member, even one not present at the meeting, should be
able to understand the organization's financial status as of the date of the report. That
is the ultimate purpose of the treasurer's report.

Making It Easy

If you are keeping your financial records manually, here is a suggestion that will help
reduce some of the work in preparing the treasurer's report. For the statement of income
and expenses, all the income and expense lines, the column headings, and the budget
for the year (column 6) remain the same for each report during the year. The only
changes are the identifying data at the top and the dollar amounts for the period.
Therefore, you can prepare a form that you can photocopy to use in preparing each
of your reports. Leave a few blank lines for new, unbudgeted items that may appear
during the year. To remind yourself of the identifying data you will need to insert, it
helps to underline the blank spaces as I did on page 78. The same concept can be
applied to the balance sheet. Note that a handwritten report prepared on lined
accounting paper is sufficient for many organizations. Readability should be the
criterion, not formality.

If you are using financial software, you can produce all sorts of reports easily.
Even a spreadsheet program such as Microsoft Excel® will work to format treasurer's
reports.

Hometown Agency Treasurer's Report

Remember that Sincere Society is a small organization and uses the cash basis of
accounting. Hometown Agency, on the other had, is large enough to use the accrual
basis. Therefore its treasurer's report will look like the one on the next three pages.
It adds a balance sheet to the statement of income and expenses. You may recognize
the statement of income and expenses as what is called a “statement of support,
revenue and expenses and changes in fund balances” in Chapter 12. The latter is its
correct name, but the former is what most people call it and, frequently, informal
interim financial statements use “statement of income and expenses.”
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Balance Sheet
Current Fund

October 31, 19X2
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Assets
Cash $62,816
Grant receivable 8,000         
Prepaid insurance 400            

Total assets 71,216       

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Accounts payable 17,561       

Fund balances:
Restricted 9,683         

Unrestricted 43,972       

Total fund balances 53,655       

Total liabilities and fund balances $71,216

Communication First


Communication First




HOMETOWN AGENCY
Statement of Income and Expenses

Unrestricted Current Fund
for the Months ended October 31, 19X2

See explanations on the following page.
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Month of October 10 months ended October 31 Budget
(over) 12-31-X2

Budget Actual Budget Actual under

Income:
Contributions                       $  5,000         $  3,215       $  40,000        $  36,818         $  3,182 A    $ 48,000
Foundations — 1,000     15,000    20,000    (5,000)B    30,000    
Government 2,000     1,958     25,000    20,000    5,000 C     25,000    
United Way 3,000     2,917     29,000    29,000    — 35,000    
Membership dues 1,500     1,478     10,000    8,378     1,622 D     8,000     
Investment income 100        96          1,000     1,081     (81)         1,000     
Miscellaneous 100        102        2,500     2,624     (124)       1,250     

Total 11,700    10,766    122,500  117,901  4,599     148,250  

Expenses:
Salaries 8,000     7,213     80,000    75,230    4,770 E     95,000    
Payroll taxes & benefits 17,000    1,522     17,000    16,376    624        20,000    
Rent 1,150     1,157     11,500    11,483    17          14,000    
Electricity 150        141        1,600     1,624     (24)         2,000     
Office supplies 120        216        1,200     1,129     71          1,500     
Equipment rental 120        151        1,200     1,257     (57)         1,500     
Telephone 250        463        2,500     3,186     (686)F       3,000     
Postage 150        161        1,600     2,251     (651)G       2,000     
Travel 150        203        1,400     1,737     (337)H       2,000     
Staff development — — 800        748        52          1,000     
Professional Fees — — — 100        (100)       1,000     
Insurance 100        105        750        1,160     (410) I       1,000     
Miscellaneous 50          12          400        202        198        500        
Depreciation 60          62          600        613        (13)         750        

Total 12,000    11,406    120,550  117,096  3,454     145,250  

Excess (deficiency) of
income over expenses (300)       (640)       1,950     805        1,145     3,000     

Fund Balance, beginning 41,050    44,612    38,800    43,167    (4,367)    40,000    
 Fund Balance, ending       $  40,750      $  43,972      $  40,750      $  43,972         $(3,222)     $  43,000

Communication First

Communication First

Communication First

Communication First

Communication First

Communication First

Communication First

Communication First



HOMETOWN AGENCY
Explanations of Significant Variances

on Income and Expenses
October 31, 19X2

A. Contributions are lower than budgeted mainly because the fund raising letters 
scheduled for October were delayed until November.

B. Grant from Nelson Foundation ($5,000) in May is a new one and was not included in
the budget.

C. Grant from the County was $5,000 less than anticipated.

D. Letter not sent in October—see A, above

E. Salaries are under budget due to director’s assistant’s position being unfilled for 4
months.

F. Telephone—no explanation—has been high for the last 3 months, the director is
checking on why.

G. Postage is over budget because of increased rates. With the fund raising letter to be
mailed in November (see A and D) postage will probably be $900–1400 over for year.

H. Travel is over because trip scheduled for December was moved up to September.

I. Insurance is over due to a premium increase.

Dale Crescent
Dale Crescent, Treasurer
November 19, 19X2
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Government Reporting 

Requirements

For better or worse, nonprofit organizations are regulated by government. The
federal government and many states and provinces require nonprofit organizations to
register annually and to provide financial information. Since other people's money is
being raised and spent, and since organizations that are tax exempt for federal
purposes are usually tax exempt for state/provincial purposes also, these compliance
requirements do not seem unreasonable.

In addition, if your organization is funded by a foundation or a federated
fundraising agency such as United Way, additional reports may be required to
accompany your financial statements. Of course, these will be specific to each funding
source.

Tax Exemption

The first thing to understand is what “tax exempt” means. It is limited to meaning
that an organization does not have to pay (is “exempt from”) income tax on its net
income. The phrase “tax exempt” is frequently misinterpreted as meaning exempt
from any and all taxes. This is not correct; each type of tax needs to be considered
separately and may be applicable.

The exemption from income tax in the United States is available to many types of
nonprofit organizations—human service agencies, schools, colleges, civic
associations, social clubs, business associations, labor unions, cemetery companies,
veterans associations, etc. All of these are described in section 501(c) of the Internal
Revenue Code. To apply for this exemption, you must complete and file specific
government forms with the Internal Revenue Service. An accountant or lawyer can be
helpful in completing these.

Depending on the nature of your organization, you will apply for exemption under
a particular subsection of 501(c). For example, labor unions are designated as
501(c)(5) and social clubs are 501(c)(7). The exemption category that is of special
importance is 501 (c)(3). To be a 501(c)(3), an organization must be organized and
operated exclusively for one or more of the following purposes: charitable, religious,
educational, scientific, literary, testing for public safety, fostering national or
international amateur sports competition, or the prevention of cruelty to animals or
children.

As a 501(c)(3), an organization is not only exempt from paying federal income tax
but can tell donors that contributions to it are “tax deductible.” This means that

15
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individuals can include charitable contributions to that organization as an itemized 
deduction on their individual personal income tax returns. Also, many foundations and 
corporations make grants only to 501 (c)(3) organizations.

In Canada, to become a “registered charity,” an organization applies to Revenue 
Canada.

Form 990

The United States government requires a Form 990, “Return of Organization 
Exempt From Income Tax,” each year from most nonprofit organizations. A sample 
Form 990 for Hometown Agency is shown in Appendix B. 

The responsibility for filing is on your shoulders, even if you do not receive 
paperwork in the mail. The good news is that, provided you’re a nonprofit and doing 
things correctly, you won’t owe anything. This just involves reporting, not paying. The 
form is due by the 15th day of the fifth month after the close of your fiscal year. if 
your fiscal year (check your incorporation or nonprofit paperwork) ends on June 30, 
then your 990 would be due by November 15th.

State Regulations

Many states have a regulatory agency, often in the Secretary of State's or 
Attorney General's office, that requires registration by nonprofit organizations. Yearly 
reports are required. Many states accept the Federal Form 990 as all or a substantial 
part of their financial information requirements. However, most do ask for some additional 
information.

To determine the requirements of your state, contact either your Secretary of 
State or Attorney General.

As with all federal and state government forms, there are lots of rules. However, 
for the size of organization for which this book is principally written, compliance 
should be relatively easy.

kristinfloyd
Cross-Out

kristinfloyd
Cross-Out
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Canada

The Canadian government requires the annual filing of form T3010, “Registered
Charity Information Return and Public Information Return,” from every registered
charity. Provinces have their own reporting requirements.

Other Taxes

Nonprofit organizations are not automatically exempt from sales tax in most
states. In some states, this exemption can be requested and, depending on the
specific circumstances, it may be granted. The same is true of real estate taxes. Often
property owned by nonprofit organizations is exempt. But many jurisdictions now tax
some or all property of a nonprofit organization, depending on use and other factors.
The applicability of both sales and real estate taxes needs to be checked for your
specific municipality, county and state.

Almost all payroll taxes do apply to people who work for nonprofit organizations.
Anyone who works as an employee is subject to federal income tax withholding and
Social Security (FICA) taxes. Also, state and local income and unemployment taxes
usually apply.

From the organization's side, the employer's portion of the Social Security tax and
most state unemployment taxes must be paid. The federal unemployment tax does
not apply to 501 (c)(3) organizations; it does apply to the other 501(c) categories.

Not all people providing a paid service to your organization are employees. Some
may be independent business people (not incorporated), such as trainers, CPAs, or
office cleaners. Although you are not required to pay payroll taxes for such people, if
any individual is paid more than $600 per calendar year, you must prepare a Federal
Form 1099 to report this to the government. Some municipal and state governments
have a similar reporting requirement.

One last tax-related subject that is very important to nonprofit organizations is
“unrelated business income tax,” which you may see referred to as “UBIT.” UBIT, as
defined by the Internal Revenue Code, is a tax on “income from a trade or business,
regularly carried on, that is not substantially related to the charitable, educational or
other purpose constituting the basis for its exemption.” The rules and regulations
concerning UBIT require professional interpretation for each situation.

The tax area gets more complicated as an organization gets larger. But for
many nonprofit organizations, particularly those that do not need the services of
a CPA for any other reason, the volunteer treasurer can meet all the necessary
government requirements.

Between the federal governments in Washington and Ottawa, and the legislatures
of the fifty states and the ten provinces, tax law has as many variations as are
possible! This book is not meant to be a tax guide and if you have any questions
concerning taxes I recommend discussing these with a professional tax consultant.

Use the Web

As you might expect, tax laws change and new regulations appear regularly. The
basic information here remains correct, but you should get the most current
government forms and instructions. In the US get federal information at www.irs.gov.
Revenue Canada is now called the Canadian Customs and Revenue Agency (CCRA):
www.ccra-adrc.gc.ca/menu-e.html.

www.irs.gov
www.ccra-adrc.gc.ca/menu-e.html
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For My Successor

These are the government forms we file:

Form Title Sent To Due Date

These are the taxes we pay:

Type Sent To Due Date
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An Outside Accountant

In Chapter 9, I explained the differences between a “bookkeeper,” an
“accountant,” and a “CPA.” Let's assume your organization has grown beyond the
point that it is reasonable to expect a volunteer treasurer to handle all of the financial
recordkeeping. That point will vary depending upon circumstances. However, the
number of transactions that take place is probably more important than the dollar
volume. A large number of receipts, payments made several restricted grants or
many different account titles all suggest professional help may be needed.

Strangely enough, you probably will need the help of a CPA before you need a paid
bookkeeper or accountant. The reason for this is that many government agencies,
banks, foundations and other funding sources require audits and this requires the
services of a CPA.

You may also grow large enough to need to hire a bookkeeper or accountant to
“keep the books.” S/he may be part-time or full-time. Remember, the treasurer's (and
the board's) responsibility does not change after staff is hired. The person hired is, in
effect, staff support for the treasurer, who now no longer has to maintain the records
physically. The treasurer's main responsibilities now become: 1) oversight of the
financial records; and 2) presentation and explanation of the financial statements to
the board of directors.

Certified Public Accountants

At this point, let me add to my earlier definition of certified public accountant
(CPA) or, in Canada, chartered accountant (CA). CPAs:

1) Help with the filing of tax returns and reports. This includes payroll and sales
tax returns, the Federal Form 990, and the filings with your state or
provincial government.

2) Function as accountants. They can help organize your financial system and
recom-mend checks and balances to develop good internal control.

3) Function as management advisors. CPAs can help you plan and budget.
They can help you consider computerization.

4) Issue several types of reports concerning your financial statements.

16
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CPA Reports

All reports issued by a CPA must comply with generally accepted auditing
standards promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
There are three types of CPA reports:

A. “Audit” - A systematic investigation of procedures or operations for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the fairness of an organization's
financial statements. Procedures include confirmation with outside parties,
physical inspection and observation, tracing transactions to supporting
documents, etc. An audit provides the highest degree of assurance that the
underlying data have been audited and tested as appropriate by an
independent professional.

B. “Review” - Consists principally of reviewing the financial records,
interviewing members of the board and staff, if any, and applying analytical
procedures to consider the reasonableness of the financial statements.
Although it is substantially less in scope than an audit, in a review report the
CPA can express limited assurance that s/he is not aware of any material
modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order for
them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

C. “Compilation” - The preparation of a set of financial statements prepared
by a CPA from information that is given to him/her by the organization and
that has not been subjected to audit or review. Therefore, the CPA does not
express an opinion and gives no other form of assurance on these financial
statements.

The result of a “compilation” is that the organization has a set of financial
statements in good financial presentation format. If some assurance is needed, a
“review” or “audit” is required. Each higher level of professional assurance is more
complex and costs more.

From this point on, I am going to use the word “auditing” or “audit” to describe
the services of a CPA, regardless of the type of report actually rendered.

Auditing in the United States is performed by CPAs (in Canada, by chartered
accountants) and, in some states, by public accountants (PAs). CPAs are licensed in
every state plus the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, Guam and the Virgin Islands.
Licensing of CPAs provides assurance that they have met minimum education and
experience requirements, and have passed the rigorous Uniform CPA Examination.

Selection of a CPA

You might be asking: “Where do I find a CPA?”. . .”What does a CPA do and not
do?”. . . “How much will a CPA's services cost us?”. . .and “What can we do to save
money on the audit?”

Your objective is to select a CPA who:

1) understands your type of organization;

2) will perform needed services efficiently, using your staff whenever possible;

3) charges fees that provide a reasonable return for his/her services;
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4) completes the audit in a timely manner;

5) will provide a letter to management explaining any situations that need
improvement that were discovered during the performance of the CPA's
services. (This letter may be the most important service the CPA provides to
your organization.)

The quality of services provided to clients can vary greatly. Since a satisfied
customer represents the best recommendation, begin your search for a CPA by
contacting organizations similar to yours and asking who audits their financial
statements. Satisfactory service to others is the best reference for the selection of
your CPA. That CPA may not be suitable to you for other reasons, but at least you
would be assured of his/her knowledge and performance.

Another source of references for a CPA is a community organization such as United
Way. Generally, such agencies are familiar with a large number of CPAs and may be
able to put you in contact with one qualified to perform your audit. Attorneys and
bankers who provide services to your organization are also good sources of referrals.
And don't forget to ask the members of your board of directors.

If you do not have at least three candidates to interview from the sources above,
you can contact your State Society of Certified Public Accountants which may operate
a referral service. Also, the Yellow Page listings in telephone directories under
“Accountants, Certified Public” will provide you with a list of CPAs. However, you will
have no way of knowing their qualifications or how efficiently they perform for their
clients.

What to Look For

Three potential CPAs should be interviewed by your principal managers (president,
treasurer, executive director, etc.) to determine how well these CPAs would relate to
your organization and understand its operations. Be sure to ask what experience each
CPA has had with other nonprofit organizations of your size. During or just after the
interview, the CPA should be allowed to examine your books briefly so that s/he can
make a fee estimate. Remember that the CPA will have to work with your staff and
other members of your organization—it is very important that s/he can work
effectively with them.

After the interview, you should receive what is called a “proposal letter” from the
CPA describing the services to be performed, when they will be performed, hourly
rates, and the estimated fee. You may also request to see samples of management
letters issued to previous nonprofit clients (with the names deleted, of course), so
that you can judge the type of recommendations made. With all this information and
the results of the interview, you should now be able to select a CPA. The engagement
of the CPA should be handled by the board of directors.

Fee estimates should be considered carefully. The CPA with the most experience
with organizations like yours will be capable of providing you with the most accurate
estimate of hours required. If there is not much variation in the number of hours
estimated, you should probably select the CPA with the best qualifications and lowest
hourly rate. In the event that the estimated number of hours varies substantially, this
should be discussed with each CPA.
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Your Agreement with the CPA

It is very important for you as well as for your CPA to have a clear agreement as
to the services to be performed, what you will do, and the fees to be charged.

When this agreement is reached, the CPA should provide you with an engagement
letter which details your understandings. The letter should be carefully reviewed by
you and your board of directors to determine if all important elements of your oral
agreements are included. When you are comfortable that all relevant items have been
covered, sign the letter and return it to the CPA, retaining a copy for your files.

What Does a CPA Not Do?

It is helpful to know what should not be expected from a CPA. His/her main
objective is not to discover theft or embezzlement although discovery of this does
occur occasionally during the course of an audit. Nor is it the CPA's function to report
your organization's problems to federal or state government agencies, funding
sources or others outside your organization. However, the CPA should be expected to
point these out to the organization's board of directors. The CPA is prohibited by the
standards of the profession from discussing your affairs with outsiders.

CPAs do not have the time to find every single small error. They understand that
bookkeepers, like everyone else, make mistakes. However, if a CPA discovers a
significant error, s/he should require that it be corrected. When errors reflect a
generally poor condition of the records, the CPA must take steps (by doing additional
audit work) to assure that the books are reasonably accurate.

What Does a CPA Do?

Now that I have examined those things that a CPA does not do, let's examine in
some detail those things that s/he does do. First, s/he asks a lot of questions! S/he
will ask who approves the payroll, who signs the checks, who purchases goods and
services, and many, many similar questions. These will generally fall into one of two
classes: (1) those things that the CPA has to know to understand your organization
in general, and (2) those things that a CPA has to know in order to understand the
system and operations of your internal accounting controls.

Let's look at a sample of each type of question that a CPA is likely to ask. In
getting to know your organization, the CPA will ask if you are incorporated or tax-
exempt, the names of directors or trustees, the number of employees, etc. Along with
these ques-tions, the CPA is likely to ask to see certain documents, such as your
articles of incorporation and bylaws, your tax-exemption letter, and minutes from board
of directors meetings.

The second type of question that the CPA will ask involves the operation of the
accounting system. Who reconciles bank accounts? Who opens mail and deposits
checks into the bank? Who authorizes the payment of invoices?

The CPA will need to send “confirmations.” This involves testing the information in
your accounting records against the records of someone outside of your organization.
Typically, confirmation will be made of bank balances, loans and accounts receivable,
grant or contract amounts, and loans and mortgages payable. Your CPA can use your
staff to prepare these forms, but s/he will control the mailing of the forms and will
receive the replies directly at his/her office.
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The CPA will also want to see checks, invoices, contracts and other documents in
order to determine that the accounting entries are fully and accurately documented.
S/he will not examine all such forms, but will test a sample of the transactions for the
year. If his/her sample does not disclose any material differences, and if there are no
other reasons for further testing, the CPA will accept the sample as being
representative of the accuracy of the records for the year. However, if material
differences or a number of small discrepancies are noted, further testing and
adjustment of records may be required.

The Independent Auditor's Report

The end product of the audit is the CPA's report on the financial statements. In
the usual case with small organizations, the CPA prepares the financial statements as
well as the accompanying footnotes. However, you should remember that the
financial statements belong to your organization and not to the CPA.

The CPA provides a report, in the form of a letter, to be attached to the front of
the financial statements which expresses his/her opinion as to the fairness of the
financial statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Saving the CPA's Time

Since the CPA charges for his/her time, anything that you can do to save time will
reduce your fee. Such an approach is practical for most organizations because few, if
any, of your employees earn the hourly rate that a CPA will charge.

Your books and records should be in good order. Journals for the entire year
should be totaled and entered in the general ledger. All ledgers, journals, invoices,
checks, bank statements, tax returns and other documents for the year should be filed
in a systematic way and made accessible to the CPA.

A number of the tasks that must be performed during an audit can be performed
by someone in your organization. For example, you can take a trial balance (a listing
of all accounts in your general ledger, by name and account number, in a form that
can be used by the CPA during the performance of the audit). You should inquire of
the CPA as to form or format desired. Anyone who can follow instructions and write
legibly should be able to complete the trial balance satisfactorily.

The CPA may request specific invoices or cancelled checks during the audit. If you
can locate them, there will be a considerable saving of time and a lower audit fee.
Other tasks such as copying documents, assembling data, preparing confirmation
forms, letters to attorneys and other clerical tasks can be performed by you under the
CPA's direction.

You may not be in a position to perform these functions for the CPA. If this is the
case, consider the possibility of hiring temporary personnel, which again may be less
expensive than the hourly rate of the CPA. Your CPA will be able to tell you on which
days s/he will need assistance so you can plan appropriately.
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How to Get Help

Accountants for the Public Interest
1012-14th St. NW, Suite 906
Washington, DC  2005
(410) 837-6533
www.geocities.com/api_woods/api/apihome.html

Accountants for the Public Interest is a national network of CPAs and accountants
who provide volunteer accounting services to organizations that cannot afford to
purchase them in the marketplace. API has affiliates and members in various cities
around the United States.

National professional accounting organizations:

American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants
1211 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10036-8775
(212) 575-6200

Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants
277 Wellington St. West
Toronto, ON M5V 3H2
(416) 977-3222

National Society of Accountants
1010 N. Fairfax St.
Alexandria, VA 22314
(800) 966-6679

There are state and provincial affiliates, or local chapters, of each of these
organizations throughout the United States and Canada.

17
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Guidelines for the Audit Committee 

of an Organization without an 

Outside Accountant

Introduction

These Guidelines are for an audit committee of two or more members appointed
by a board of directors. It is assumed that the financial records of the organization
are kept by a volunteer treasurer who is not a professional accountant and that the
financial statements do not require the services of a CPA (such requirements might
come from government, funding sources, or the organization's bylaws).

During its work, the audit committee should question anything that is not clear or
looks unusual. Any such items should be discussed with the treasurer and/or
president.

General

Be sure a system exists for keeping track of cash receipts and disbursements. Use
common sense; the system need not be complicated. Treasurer's reports should be
made periodically (at each board meeting) and at a minimum once a year. These
reports should be traceable back to the cash receipts and disbursements records.

Records to Be Maintained and What Should Be Checked

A. Cash receipts: all receipts should be listed by date received, name of payer and
reasons for.

Is such a record kept? F yes F no

B. Cash disbursements: all disbursements should be listed by date paid, name of
payee and reason for being paid.

Is such a record kept? F yes F no

Note: for a very small organizations all of the cash receipts and cash disbursements
information can be maintained in a checkbook.
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C. Paid invoices: all disbursements should be supported by an invoice and these
should be filed by date paid or by vendor. The check number and date paid should
be written on the invoice. Preferably approved by someone other than the treasurer
(the check writer).

Note: An invoice may be a note from a member of the organization for
reimbursement of some things paid by him or her. An invoice does not have to be a
formal receipt from a store. As indicated above, it is best if a third person approves
the invoice (the presenter of the invoice and the treasurer being the other two
people).

The audit committee should trace from a few cancelled checks to the supporting
invoice.

Do supporting invoices agree to the checks written?

F yes F no

D. All checks should be signed by the authorized check signer(s). Scan checks for
the year to be sure this has been followed.

Is this done? F yes F no

E. All bank accounts should be reconciled to the checkbook monthly.

Is this done? F yes F no

F. The listing of outstanding (unpaid) invoices and amounts due the organization
(pledges, etc.) should be reviewed to be sure it is correct and all-inclusive. Have
the bills been subsequently paid and have the amounts receivable been collected?

Has this been done? F yes F no

G. If any salaries or wages are paid, be sure that the employees' records are
maintained, that rates have been approved, that deductions are being made and
that withheld taxes have been paid to the appropriate government.

Has this been done? F yes F no

H. The year-end treasurer's report for the year should be traceable to the cash
receipts and disbursements records.

Are they? F yes F no

Note: The treasurer's report must agree to the books. The cash receipts records
(see A above) should be totaled. the cash disbursements records (see B above)
should be totaled. These totals should agree to the treasurer's report. If the records
are all kept in the checkbook, a worksheet may have to be prepared or the
checkbook itself can be added up.
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I. The Federal Form 990 and state charity regulators reports (if any) should be
completed and filed on time.

Were they? F yes F no

Overall

All records should be reasonably neat, readable, and “in order.” All questions
raised in these Guidelines should be answered “yes.” Any “no” answer should be
explained.

Reporting to the Board

After the audit committee has finished its review a report should be prepared for
the board. A sample format is shown below. These Guidelines might be attached to
the report showing the answer to each question.

Appendix A 99

© 2003 Energize, Inc. Self-Help Accounting

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF

(name of organization)

for the year ended

(month, day, year)

We have audited the financial statements for the above year (using the attached
Guidelines). In our opinion, except as noted below, the financial statements agree with the
accounting records and, based upon our tests, appear to be correct.

Exceptions: (indicate “none” if appropriate)                                                                           

Audit Committee: (signatures):

(date)
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Form 990–Return Organization 

Exempt From Income Tax

For the most current form and information for Form 990, please contact the IRS
at www.irs.gov.

© 2003 Energize, Inc. Self-Help Accounting

A
P

P
E

N
D

I
X

 
B

www.irs.gov


102 Appendix B

Self-Help Accounting © 2003 Energize, Inc.



Appendix B 103

© 2003 Energize, Inc. Self-Help Accounting



104 Appendix B

Self-Help Accounting © 2003 Energize, Inc.



Appendix B 105

© 2003 Energize, Inc. Self-Help Accounting



106 Appendix B

Self-Help Accounting © 2003 Energize, Inc.

Dale  Crescent
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Glossary

Accounting Principles The guidelines an organization follows in the measurement,
classification and interpretation of its financial information.

Accounting System The structure of records and procedures which record,
classify, summarize and report information on the financial position and results of
the operations of an organization.

Accounts payable Money owed to creditors from whom the organization has
purchased goods or services.

Accounts receivable Money due from someone for goods or services provided; or
a pledge to contribute a specific amount of money in the future.

Accrual basis of accounting The basis of accounting under which transactions
are recognized when they occur.

Accrued interest Interest accumulated on a debt since the last interest payment
date.

Annual report Information provided annually by the board of directors of an
organization about its operations.  It usually includes financial statements.

Asset Any physical object owned or intangible right having an economic value to
its owner.

Audit A systematic investigation by a CPA of procedures or operations for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the fairness of an organization's financial
statements.

Audit committee A committee of the board of directors whose responsibility is to
see to it that an audit is performed of the financial records as kept by the treasurer.
In an organization without an outside CPA, the audit committee itself examines the
records and reports to the board.  In an organization with an outside CPA, the audit
committee's responsibility is to meet with the outside CPA and to review the annual
financial statements before they are submitted to the board of directors.

Audit trail The ability to trace each transaction forward from the source
documentation through all journals and ledgers to the summary statements and
financial reports, or the reverse.
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Balance sheet The financial statement which shows the financial position of an
organization by listing its assets, liabilities, and fund balances at a specified date.

Budget A plan of financial operation that includes an estimate of proposed
expenditures for a given period and the proposed means of financing them.

CA "Chartered Accountant" (Canada)

CPA "Certified Public Accountant" (United States)

Capital additions or expenditures Fixed assets such as land, buildings, or
equipment purchased or donated.

Capital gain or loss Profit or loss resulting from the sale of an investment.

Cash basis of accounting The basis of accounting under which transactions are
recognized when cash changes hands.

Cash flow The increase or decrease in an organization's cash during a period of
time.

Compilation The preparation of a set of financial statements by a CPA from
information that is given to him/her by the organization and that has not been
subjected to audit or review.

Cost The amount of an expenditure to obtain goods or services.  See "expense."

Current asset An asset which is available or can be made readily available,
usually within one year, to finance current operations or to pay current liabilities.
For example:  cash, accounts receivable and temporary investments.

Current liability A liability that is payable within one year.

Deferred income Income received or recorded before it is earned.

Deficit An excess of expenses over revenues over a measured period of time.

Depreciation Systematic charges against income to write off the cost of an asset
over its estimated useful life.  the charges are usually related to the asset's lost
usefulness, expired utility or diminution of services. It is only a bookkeeping entry
and does not represent any cash being spent or set aside.

Designated funds Restricted funds set aside by a board of directors for a specific
purpose.  Unlike "restricted funds," designated funds can be changed by the board
of directors.

Disbursement A payment in cash

Endowment fund Funds given to an organization, the income from which can be
used for general or specific purposes according to the conditions attached to the gift
by the donor, and the principal of which must be maintained or applied to the
purposes of the fund.
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Expenditure A disbursement for any purpose.

Expense A cost, within a measured period of time, incurred to operate an
organization.  See "cost."

Financial statements The means by which the information accumulated in the
financial accounting system is periodically communicated to those who use it.

Fiscal year The year covered by the annual financial statements.

Fixed asset A tangible, long-term asset held for use rather than for sale.
Examples are land, buildings, machinery, and equipment.

Fund A set of accounts separated by legal or other limitations, to carry on specific
activities or attain certain objectives.

Fund accounting Accounting procedures in which a self-balancing group of
accounts is provided for each fund established by legal or other limitations.

Fund balance The assets less the liabilities of a particular fund.

General journal The book of original entry in which financial transactions and
adjustments are recorded which are not provided for in a specialized journal.

General ledger A book, file, or other device which contains all the asset, liability,
revenue and support, and expense accounts of an organization.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) Uniform minimum
standards of and guidelines to financial accounting and reporting.  They govern the
form and content of the basic financial statements of an organization.

Internal control The plan of organization and all the coordinated methods and
measures adopted by management to safeguard assets, ensure the accuracy and
reliability of accounting data, an maintain adherence to prescribed policies.

Inventory Items held for sale.

Investment An expenditure to acquire an asset or an asset that yields, or is
expected to yield, income.

Invoice A bill for goods or services rendered.

Journal A book of original entry of financial transactions.  Examples are the cash
receipts journal, cash disbursements journal, or general journal. 

Liability Debts or obligations owed by an organization.

Long-term Liability Debts or obligations owed, but that are due in more than one
year.

Original entry The first record of a financial transaction made in a journal.
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Overhead Expenses that apply to the whole organization and not to specific
activities.

Petty Cash A relatively small amount of cash kept on hand to meet minor
disbursements.

Prepaid expense An expense paid in advance of the period which it will benefit,
such as insurance or rent.

Restricted funds Funds received by an organization which can only be used for
the specific purpose indicated by the donor.

Review An examination of an organization's financial records by a CPA.  Although
significantly less in scope than an audit, a review report provides limited assurance
of the reasonableness of the financial statements.

Trial Balance A listing of the debit and credit balances in each general ledger
account as of a specific date.  Total debits must equal total credits.

Unrestricted funds Funds that are available for any purpose appropriate to the
organization and approved by the board of directors.
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Energize Web site 
keeps you on the cutting edge!

Already a favorite site among Internet users interested in volunteer issues, the Energize Web
site is continually updated to be useful. You’ll find:

• The monthly “Hot Topic” by Energize President Susan Ellis on issues of timely interest to
leaders of volunteers. You can join in the dialogue by posting your opinions.

• An entire library of articles on volunteer management.

• The Energize Online Bookstore, with over 80 titles in print and electronic form, offering
the chance to sample excerpts from books on volunteer management.

• Helpful tips to use every day in working with volunteers.

• Up-to-the-minute information on key conference, events, and training workshops.

• A DOVIA Directory, and links to other volunteer-related Web sites.

• Quotes and parables illuminating volunteering.

• A Job Bank for finding and posting volunteer leadership positions.

Bookmark It!
Mark the Energize Web site as a “favorite” in your Web browser and return to Energize often.

http://www.energizeinc.com

Receive free e-mail updates about our Web site and publications!

Easy online sign-up at: http://energizeinc.com/fillin/email.html

www.energizeinc.com
http://energizeinc.com/fillin/email.html
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